Relações entre corticosterona, cativeiro como estressor e a resposta imune inata em anuros

Relationship between corticosterone, captivity as stressor and the immune innate response in anurans

São Paulo, 2021

Farides del Carmen Lamadrid Feris

Relações entre corticosterona, cativeiro como estressor e a resposta imune inata em anuros

Relationship between corticosterone, captivity as stressor and the immune innate response in anurans

> Tese apresentada ao Instituto de Biociências da Universidade de São Paulo, para a obtenção do titulo de Doutor em Ciências na Área de Fisiologia Geral. Orientador: Prof. Dr. Fernando Ribeiro Gomes

São Paulo

2021

Ficha catalográfica elaborada pelo Serviço de Biblioteca do Instituto de Biociências da USP, com os dados fornecidos pelo (a) autor (a) no formulário: 'https://biblioteca.ib.usp.br/ficha-catalografica/src/ficha.php'

> Lamadrid Feris, Farides del Carmen Relações entre corticosterona, cativeiro como estressor e a resposta imune inata em anuros / Farides del Carmen Lamadrid Feris ; orientador Fernando Ribeiro Gomes -- São Paulo, 2021. 107 p.

Tese (Doutorado) -- Instituto de Biociências da Universidade de São Paulo. Programa de Pós-Graduação em Fisiologia.

1. Corticosterona. 2. Anuros. 3. Cativeiro. 4. Microbiota Cutânea. 5. Secreções Cutâneas. I. Ribeiro Gomes, Fernando, orient. II. Título.

Bibliotecária responsável pela catalogação: Elisabete da Cruz Neves - CRB - 8/6228

Comissão Julgadora

Prof(a). Dr(a).

Prof(a). Dr(a).

Prof(a). Dr(a).

Prof. Dr. Fernando Ribeiro Gomes Orientador

"A Deus e a minha família, os quais fizeram possível com seu apoio e amor aquilo que em solidão parecia impossível" "Courage is like — it's a habitus, a habit, a virtue: you get it by courageous acts. It's like you learn to swim by swimming. You learn courage by couraging."

(Dra. Marie Maynard Daly)

"Uma nuvem não sabe por que se move em tal direção e em tal velocidade. Sente apenas um impulso que a conduz para esta ou aquela direção. Mas o céu sabe os motivos e os desenhos por trás de todas as nuvens, e você também saberá, quando se erguer o suficiente para ver além dos horizontes"

(Richard Bach)

AGRADECIMENTOS

- A Deus por ser meu centro, suporte e guia.
- A meus pais Nora Feris e Hugo Lamadrid pela inspiração que tem sido sempre seu amor e apoio incondicional.
- A minha irmã Gilsa Victoria e minhas sobrinhas porque junto com meus pais são minha corda vital na qual me suporto ainda quando tenho temor da queda. Em especial a mi sobrinha Victoria pelo seu carinho e apoio, sobretudo na ultima fase desta caminhada.
- Aos meus amores, meu filho Paulo Nicolás e meu companheiro Marvin Anganoy, porque se converteram em meu faro e motor, porque com seu amor mudaram minha vida de uma forma inimaginável.
- Ao Prof. Dr. Fernando Ribeiro Gomes, por acreditar em mim e me orientar no processo académico. Pela sua compreensão de todas minhas humanidades me mantendo com a vista no objetivo, por ensinar para mim com seu exemplo a importância da calma e a perseverança
- Ao Prof. Dr. Carlos Navas por ter me mostrado o ponto do início no caminho do doutorado e a alegria com que devemos andar por ele.
- Ao Prof. Dr. Norberto Lopes, quem chegou no momento justo e me mostrou a diferença que faz a disponibilidade real e a empatia pelos outros.
- Ao Prof. MSc. QF. Eduardo Alfonso Martínez Maury quem fosse meu querido amigo, maestro e guia nesta caminhada da vida cientista. Ele marcou meus primeiros passos e me deu a coragem para continuar, quem sempre acreditou em mim até o ultimo momento, mas que hoje não posso abraça-lo e faço este homenagem póstumo para ele.
- Ao Prof. Dr. Taran Grant pelo sequenciamento do banco de bactérias potencialmente benéficas através dos seus projetos FAPESP 590 Procs., 2012/10000-5 e 2018/15425-0
- Aos professores de IB que em algum momento contribuíram para minha formação como pesquisadora através dos seus conhecimentos e aportes ao meu projeto. Pelas portas abertas

em cada laboratório e disposição técnica dos materiais que permitiram o sucesso do meu projeto.

- Ao Vagner Alberto, o técnico maravilha, pela sua ajuda no campo e laboratório, sua disponibilidade e bom humor sempre.
- Ao Parque Estadual Intervales e seus funcionários por toda a ajuda na logística e atenção no parque.
- A todos do Departamento de Fisiologia Geral, especialmente a Roseli Silva Santos e Erika
 H. Takamoto de Camargo por trabalho desenvolvido, a ajuda de vocês foi essencial nesta caminhada.
- A meus amigos, aquelas pessoas especiais que fizeram cada dia mais leve, que encheram meu tempo no Brasil de risos, alegrias e experiências maravilhosas que vou atesourar para sempre no meu coração. Cada um de vocês merece uma menção especial, mas ainda se seu nome não está escrito aqui, você sabe que é importante para mim. Para minhas queridas Ecofisio girls (Bruna Casettari, Adriana Barsotti, Renata Vaz, Camila Cabanzo, Stefanny Saruhashi, Daniela Wilwert, Ronyelle Vasconcellos e Débora Silva) as quais tem sido minha rede de apoio ainda na distancia e na pandemia. Às minhas meninas do flow (Isabel Casillas, Karent Gutierrez e Ximena Quecan) por fazer do mundo um local muito mais iluminado e feliz. Ao Alan Góis que hoje comemora no céu, pois junto com Almir Ferreira fizeram que nossa casa sempre tivesse aquele charme de lar. À Johana Becerra, minha querida amiga, estagiaria e companheira de bactérias pelas boas conversas, aprendizado mutuo e toda a diversão.
- Aos meus colegas do laboratório (LaCoFiE), pelas conversas, trocas de ideias e ensinamentos que me ajudaram no caminho do desenvolvimento e aprendizado durante meu doutorado. Em especial a Stefanny Titon e Vânia Assis pelos seus ensinamentos e sugestões acadêmicas.

Este trabalho foi financiado por:

Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP, 2014/16320-7)

Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES, Código de financiamento 001)

Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq, 171088/2017-4)

Programa de Apoio à Pós-Graduação (PROAP) da CAPES

Programa de Pós-graduação em Fisiologia Geral - Departamento de Fisiologia - Instituto de Biociências - USP - São Paulo.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

RESUMO GERAL		14
		16 18
		CHAPTER 1.— EMULATING CHRONIC STRESS: A PRACTICAL APPROACH AND ITS IMMUNOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES
1.1.	Abstract 30	
1.2.	Introduction	31
1.3.	Materials and Methods	33
1.3.1.	Animals and Study Site	33
1.3.2.	Captive Maintenance Conditions.	34
1.3.3.	Collecting and Processing Blood Samples.	34
1.3.4.	Experimental Design	35
1.3.5.	Silastic Implants	35
1.3.6.	Hormonal Assay	36
1.3.7.	Bacterial Killing Ability (BKA)	36
1.3.8.	Statistical analysis	37
1.4.	Results	38
1.5.	Discussion	43
1.6.	Conclusions	45
1.7.	Acknowledgments	45
1.8.	References	45
CHAPT IMMUN	ER 2.— CONSEQUENCES OF CAPTIVITY ON INNATE HTY AND SKIN BACTERIOME OF SÃO PAULO LEAF FROG	50
2. 1	Abstract	50
2. 2	Introduction	52

2.3	Materials and methods	
2.3.1	Animal Habitat Environment56	
2.3.2	Sample Collection	
2.3.2.1	Skin bacteriome sample collection58	
2.3.2.2	Potentially beneficial bacteria59	
2.3.2.3	8 Skin bacteriome	
2.3.2.4	Collecting and processing blood samples61	
2.3.2.5	61 Hormonal assay	
2.3.2.6	6 Plasma Bacterial Killing Ability (BKA)62	
2.3.2.7	Cutaneous secretions	
2.3.2.8	Presence/Absence of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis	
2.3.2.9	Bd-inhibitory bacterial database65	
2.3.3	Sequence and statistical analysis	
2.4	Results	
2.5	Discussion	
2.6	Conclusions	
2.7	Acknowledgments	
2.8	References 93	
2.9	Supplementary Material104	
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS 106		
ANEXO 1 – CERTIFICADO DE APROVAÇÃO DO COMITÊ DE ÉTICA NO USO DE ANIMAIS (CEUA IB/USP)107		

FIGURE TABLE

Figure 1.1. Corticosterone plasma levels of *Rhinella ornata* toads before (0) and after (1,5,10 and 15 days) corticosterone silastic implants. (PL) placebo with 7mm empty implant, (I7) 7mm implant filled with corticosterone and (I15) 15mm implant filled with corticosterone. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Statistical differences between groups and days were calculated by post hoc comparisons using Bonferroni adjustments in Mixed-effects models. Differences between placebo (PL) and experimental groups (I7 and I15) within each day are shown in red and with asterisks (*) for p< 0.05 and (**) for p<0,001

Figure 1.2. Plasma Bacterial killing assay (BKA) of *Rhinella ornata* toads before (day 0) and after (1,5,10 and 15 days) corticosterone silastic implants. (PL) placebo with 7mm empty implant, (I7) 7mm implant filled with corticosterone and (I15) 15mm implant filled with corticosterone. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Statistical differences between groups and days were calculated by post hoc comparisons using Bonferroni adjustments in Mixed-effects models. Differences between placebo (PL) and experimental groups (I7 and I15) within each day are shown in red. The statistical difference between days 0 and 10 within I7 group, and between day 10 and day 15 post-surgery are shown in blue. The asterisks (*) represents p< 0.05

Figure 2.1: Scheme showing the time of sampling, type of samples obtained and duration of study. Blood samples were obtained by cardiac puncture (\heartsuit), skin bacteriome by swabs () and cutaneous secretions by electrostimulation (\checkmark).

Figure 2.2: Physiological and immunological parameters measured in field

Figure 2.3: Mass spectrometry signals from skin secretions of *Phyllomedusa*

Figure 2.4: Abundance of taxa identified in the skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta* in field and captivity conditions. (A)Bars shows the reads count of each Phylum identified in field (green) and captivity conditions (orange). (B) Heat-tree of the abundances of Phylum identified. The color of each taxon represents the log-2 ratio of difference between field (green) and captivity (purple) conditions, and the size of nodes represents the number of observations (n_obs). The lineages with more than 500 observations are marked with a bigger font size.

Figure 2.5: Differential heat tree matrix depicting the change in taxa abundance through the different times of sampling, for skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta*. The gray tree on the lower left shows the names of the taxa. The color of each taxon represents the log-2 ratio of median proportions of reads observed at each time of sampling. Only significant differences are colored, determined using a Wilcox rank-sum test followed by a Benjamini-Hochberg (FDR) correction for multiple comparisons. Green taxa are more abundant in the day shown in the row and those colored brown for the day shown in the column.

Figure 2.6: Alpha and beta diversity of skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta* **individuals through time of sampling**. (A) Shannon-Weiner index values by time of sampling. (B)Double principal coordinates analysis (DPCoA) using Bray Curtis distances between time of sampling.

Figure 2.7: Heat-map diagram of the core skin bacteriome composition at genus level for *Phyllomedusa distincta* throughout the time of sampling.

Figure 2.8: The most abundant potential beneficial bacteria anti-*Aeromonas hydrophyla* (A) Phyla and (B) the families in skin bacteriome of Phyllomedusa distincta throughout the time of samplings. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity.

Figure 2.9: Genera of potentially beneficial bacteria anti-*Aeromonas hydrophyla* **isolated and identified on skin bacteriome of** *Phyllomedusa distincta*. (A) Phylogenetic tree of genera identified. The color key shows each genus identified, and the shapes represents the time of sampling. The point size represents abundance in each sample on a log scale. (B) Abundance of genera throughout the time of experiment. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity.

Figure 2.10. OTUs anti-*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* **putatively identified on skin bacteriome of** *Phyllomedusa distincta.* (A) Phylogenetic tree of genera identified. The color key shows the Bd-inhibition category according to the database of (Woodhams et al., 2015), and the shapes represents the time of sampling. (B) Abundance of each OTU throughout the time of experiment. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity.

Table S1. Identification of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* presence and quantification of zoospores load in *Phyllomedusa distincta* individuals.

Figure S2.1: Mass spectrometry signals from skin secretions of

TABLE LIST

Table 1.1. Descriptive fixed effect test from mixed-effects model, with days as a random effect for corticosterone plasma levels of *Rhinella ornata* with subcutaneous silastic implants empty (PL) and filled with corticosterone (I7 and I15). CORT: Corticosterone; PL: Placebo group; I7: CORT silastic implant of 7 mm; I15: CORT silastic implant of 15 mm; REML: Restricted maximum likelihood. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001.

Table 1.2. Descriptive fixed effect test from mixed-effects model, with days as a random effect for the plasma BKA of *Rhinella ornata* with subcutaneous silastic implants empty (PL) and filled with corticosterone (I7 and I15). BKA: Bacterial Killing Ability; PL: Placebo group; I7: CORT silastic implant of 7 mm; I15: CORT silastic implant of 15 mm; REML: Restricted maximum likelihood. *P < 0.05.

Table 2.1. Descriptive statistics of plasma corticosterone levels, plasma BKA and skin ionic signals richness analyzed in field and captivity conditions with *Phyllomedusa distincta* individuals.

Table 2.2. Linear mixed model results for alpha diversity indexes values (Chao1, Simpson, and Shannon) of skin microbiota of *Phyllomedusa distincta* **control group.** The times of sampling were: Field = when individuals collected, and Day 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity condition.

Table 2.3. PERMANOVA results for the beta diversity analysis of skin bacteriomeof *Phyllomedusa distincta* using unweighted and weighted UniFrac distances.Asterisks represent significant differences (* p<0.05 ** p<0.01 *** p<0.001).

RESUMO GERAL

Anfíbios anuros enfrentam um drástico declínio populacional em nível mundial, devido às mudanças ambientais, perda de habitat e doenças infeciosas emergentes. Essas ameaças representam estressores capazes de gerar respostas crônicas com consequências letais aos anuros. As respostas fisiológicas a estressores podem gerar efeitos imunomodulatórios complexos, que dependem da duração e da intensidade do aumento da concentração plasmática de glicocorticoides (GCs) em sua decorrência. Os efeitos tendem a ser imunoestimulatórios em resposta a estressores agudos e imunossupressores em resposta a estressores crônicos. O objetivo dessa tese foi compreender o impacto do aumento experimental da concentração plasmática de GCs e do cativeiro como estressor, sobre a resposta imune inata e microbiota da pele dos anfíbios anuros. No primeiro capítulo da tese, foi investigado se é possível emular experimentalmente níveis crônicos de corticosterona (CORT) para avaliar seus efeitos sobre a imunidade inata em indivíduos de Rhinella ornata, espécie de sapo associada a regiões florestadas do Brasil. Para tanto, sapos foram implantados subcutaneamente com tubos silásticos contendo CORT (grupo experimental) e tubos silásticos vazios (grupo controle). Amostras de plasma foram obtidas a cada 5 dias após o implante, durante 15 dias, para estimar a concentração de CORT e a capacidade bactericida plasmática (CBP) contra Aeromonas hydrophila. O tratamento aplicado aumentou a concentração plasmática de CORT ao longo do período experimental e resultou em aumento do CBP do dia 1 ao dia 10 pós-implante, e uma redução da CBP no dia 15 pós-implante. Esses resultados evidenciaram que os implantes de CORT elevaram a concentração de CORT no plasma de maneira crônica, levando à imunomudulação complexa ao longo do tempo experimental. No segundo capítulo da tese, foi investigado se a manutenção em cativeiro de indivíduos da perereca das folhas (Phyllomedusa distincta) resultou em estresse, gerando impactos sobre a imunidade inata e a composição de bactérias da pele. Brevemente, indivíduos de P. distincta foram mantidos em cativeiro por 28 dias e amostrados a cada 7 dias. Foram coletadas amostras de sangue, secreções cutâneas, e microbiota da pele. A manutenção em cativeiro não alterou a concentração plasmática de CORT, mas reduziu a CBP, incrementou a riqueza de sinais iônicas nas secreções

cutâneas e alterou a estrutura do bacterioma da pele, diminuindo a diversidade e abundância gerais. As bactérias potencialmente benéficas contra *A. hydrophila* e *B. dendrobatidis* aumentaram em cativeiro. O bacterioma das amostras do campo foi mais parecido com o do último dia em cativeiro, evidenciando uma tendência à resiliência das comunidades. Após a submissão experimental aos estressores (tubos silásticos e cativeiro), as duas espécies mostraram diminuição da CBP, mas só os sapos implantados mostraram aumento da CORT. Esses resultados indicam que o uso de implantes de CORT é um estressor para os sapos, sendo capaz de ativar o eixo HHI, aumentando a secreção de CORT e estimulando a função imunitária no inicio e diminuindo ela com o tempo. Adicionalmente, as pererecas de folha apresentam uma função imune inata plasmática menor se comparada à dos sapos, e elevada ao nível cutâneo o que poderia aumentar seu valor adaptativo no seu ambiente nativo e favorecer o sucesso frente a patógenos emergentes.

Palavras chave: Anuros, Corticosterona, Cativeiro, Microbiota cutânea, Secreções Cutâneas.

GENERAL ABSTRACT

Amphibians anuran face a dramatic population decline worldwide, because of environmental changes, loss of habitat, and emerging infectious diseases. These threats represent stressors capable of producing chronic responses with lethal consequences to frogs. The physiological responses to stressors can generate complex immunomodulatory effects, which depend on the duration and intensity of the increase in the plasma concentration of glucocorticoids (GCs). The effects lean to be immunostimulatory in response to acute stressors and immunosuppressive in response to chronic stressors. The aim of this thesis was to understand the impact of the experimental increase in the plasma concentration of GCs and captivity as stressors, on the innate immune response and skin microbiota of anuran amphibians. In the first chapter of this thesis, we investigated whether it is possible to emulate experimentally chronic levels of corticosterone (CORT) to evaluate its effects on innate immunity in individuals of Rhinella ornata, a species of toad associated with forested regions of Brazil. For this purpose, we implanted the toads subcutaneously with silastic tubes containing CORT (experimental group) and empty silastic tubes (control group). We got plasma samples every 5 days after implantation, for 15 days, to estimate CORT concentration and plasma bactericidal capacity (BKA) against Aeromonas hydrophila. The applied treatment increased the plasma CORT concentration throughout the experimental period and resulted in an increase in BKA from day 1 to day 10 post-implantation, and a reduction in BKA on day 15 post-implantation. These results showed that the CORT implants chronically increased the concentration of CORT in the plasma, leading to complex immunomodulation over the experimental time. The second chapter of the thesis investigated whether the maintenance in captivity of individuals of the leaf frog (*Phyllomedusa distincta*) resulted in stress, generating impacts on the innate immunity and the composition of skin bacteria. Briefly, individuals of P. distincta were

kept in captivity for 28 days and sampled every 7 days. Blood samples, skin secretions, and skin microbiota were collected. Maintenance in captivity did not alter the plasma concentration of CORT, but reduced BKA, increased the richness of signals in skin secretions, and altered the structure of the skin bacteriome, decreasing overall diversity and abundance. The potentially beneficial bacteria against *A. hydrophila* and *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* increased in captivity. The bacteriome of the samples from the field was more similar to that of the last day in captivity, showing a tendency to resilience in the communities. After experimental submission to stressors (silastic tubes and captivity), both species showed a decrease in BKA, but only implanted toads showed an increase in CORT. These results indicate that the use of CORT implants is a stressor for anurans, being able to activate the HPA/I axis, increasing the secretion of CORT and stimulating immune function in the beginning, and decreasing it through time. Additionally, leaf frogs have a lower plasma innate immune function compared to that of toads but elevated at the cutaneous level, which could increase their fitness in their native environment and facilitate success against emerging pathogens.

Keywords: Anurans, Corticosterone, Captivity, Skin microbiota, Cutaneous Secretions

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Under stress conditions, the hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal axis (HPA/I) is activated in vertebrates, leading to an increase in circulating levels of glucocorticoids (GCs) (Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000), with corticosterone (CORT) as the main glucocorticoid present in amphibians (Rollins-Smith 2017). The production of GCs in response to stressors and their immunological effects vary depending on the duration and intensity of the stressor event. Short-term stressors activate the HPA/I axis modulating several physiological functions, and contributing to integrative and adaptive responses. Acute stress response enhances leukocytes mobilization from lymphoid organs to circulation; mainly Natural Killers cells and granulocytes (Dhabhar 2009; Viswanathan and Dhabhar 2005; Dhabhar 2002; Dhabhar and McEwen 1997; Tatiersky et al. 2015), increases the metabolic rate (DuRant et al. 2008), anti-predator behaviors (Thaker, Lima, and Hews 2009; Ohmer, Robertson, and Zamudio 2009) and suppress the reproductive hormones (Davies et al. 2016; Ricciardella et al. 2010; Zamudio et al. 2009) among other effects. Nevertheless, long-term activation of the HPA/I axis under chronic stress conditions have harmful effects, including immunosuppression (Dhabhar 2009; McEwen and Stellar 1993). Also, GCs immunosuppressive effects include inhibition of synthesis, reallocation and efficiency of various cytokines and other mediators that promote immune response and inflammatory reactions, and atrophy lymphoid tissues, particularly of the thymus (Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000; Wiegers and Reul 1998; Simmaco et al. 1998; Garvy et al. 1993). In this way, GCs show complex immunomodulatory effects, including bimodal effects associated with acute and chronic responses (Dhabhar 2009; Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000; Munck, Gurye, and Holbrook 1984).

Studies with experimental manipulations of GCs levels in amphibians have contributed to understanding acute and chronic stress response and its immunological consequences (Crossin et al. 2016). Many advances in the understanding the relation between GCs and different with phenotypic traits in wild animal are correlational, but experimental manipulation of GCs is necessary to stablish causality (van Kesteren et al. 2019). In anurans, transdermal applications have been used to manipulate levels of CORT and to study immune consequences of acute increased corticosterone plasma levels (Kaiser et al. 2015; Gardner et al. 2018; Madelaire, Cassettari, and Gomes 2019; Titon et al. 2019; Assis et al. 2017, 2015). However, daily CORT transdermal application in the toad Rhinella icterica did not induce chronic CORT plasma levels (Assis et al. 2017). Experimental treatments capable of maintaining constant dose and release rate of GCs are necessary to induce chronically high plasma levels of these hormones (Quispe et al. 2015; Crossin et al. 2016). Silastic subcutaneous implants are good alternatives to induce continuous stimulation of endocrine axis, e. g. hypothalamic-pituitary-gonad (HPG) axis (Quispe et al. 2015; Koresh, Matas, and Koren 2016; Tamaru et al. 1990), and the HPA/I axis (Juneau, Gilmour, and Blouin-Demers 2015; Falso et al. 2015; Bonier et al. 2009). Using endocrine treatments for observing immunomodulatory consequences is an interesting approach. Previous studies suggested that researches with experimental manipulation of GCs must have an appropriate theoretical framework through which can correctly interpret the increased produced by this method (L. Romero 2004; Crossin et al. 2016). Rhinella ornata, is a non-threatened Brazilian toad from the Atlantic forest (Baldissera 2010), for which it was previously observed a negative association between plasma bacterial killing ability (BKA) and CORT plasma levels (F. R. Gomes et al. 2012). It is also known that dehydration triggers a pronounced stress response (Barsotti et al. 2019), exposure to short and mid-term stressors results in immuno-enhancing effects, and long-term captivity produce immunosuppressive effect (Titon et al. 2019) in R. ornata.

Based in all that information, we chosen this species as the model in our research about experimental manipulation of CORT levels.

The chronic activation of HPA/I axis and its immune consequences is a topic particularly relevant for amphibians because of the worldwide declining of their populations caused by climate change, habitat loss and emerging infectious diseases (Carey, Cohen, and Rollins-Smith 1999; Daszak et al. 1999; Daszak, Cunningham, and Hyatt 2003). Diseases like Chytridiomycosis (caused by the fungus Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis) and red-leg syndrome (bacterial septicemia that include Aeromonas hydrophila (Pessier 2002)) have decimated and disappeared entire populations and species (Daszak, Cunningham, and Hyatt 2003; James et al. 2015; Scheele et al. 2019) forcing to transfer the survivors populations to captivity conditions. Besides being a source of amphibian declines, these diseases share the skin as the target organ. The skin is the first physical barrier and protect against predators, injuries and pathogens (Varga, Bui-Marinos, and Katzenback 2019; Haslam et al. 2014). In amphibian anurans, the skin produce several substances as antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) (Conlon, Iwamuro, and King 2009), together with alkaloids (Toledo and Jared 1995; A. A. Gomes et al. 2007), lipids and polysaccharides (Elkan 1968). AMPs are considered effector molecules of innate immunity (Varga, Bui-Marinos, and Katzenback 2019). Stress, injury, or infection can induce the secretion of constitutive AMPs from granular glands in anurans (Heimlich, Harrison, and Mason 2014; Pask, Woodhams, and Rollins-Smith 2012). Cortisone treatment blocked de novo synthesis of all AMPs, blocking nuclear factor kappa-beta (NF-kB) by induction of inhibitor of NF-jB (IkBa) synthesis according to (Boman 2003). Then, the AMPs can be altered by the activation of the HPA/I axis (Radek et al. 2010) responding to increased circulating GCs levels (Tatiersky et al. 2015; Simmaco et al. 1997).

Together with the immune system, the skin microbiome can regulate pathogens, through competition by resources and the producing antimicrobial metabolites (Barnes, Carter, and Lewis 2020; Byrd, Belkaid, and Segre 2018; Kearns et al. 2017; Colombo et al. 2015; Myers et al. 2012) conferring it to skin microbial communities a protective role (Bletz et al. 2013; Jiménez and Sommer 2017; Burkart et al. 2017; Colombo et al. 2015). Nowadays, the perception of skin as an ecosystem with living biological and physical components occupying diverse habitats granted the advanced understanding of the delicate balance between host and microorganism (Grice and Segre 2011). Many studies with anuran skin microbiome revealed several commensal bacteria produced metabolites capable to inhibit the growth of known pathogens (Woodhams et al. 2016; Burkart et al. 2017). Researches with skin commensal bacteria in anurans sought antifungal bacteria and documented them in the Antifungal Isolates Database (Woodhams et al. 2015), considering that the fungus B. dendrobatidis is the major cause of worldwide anuran declines (Scheele et al. 2019). The bacterial metabolites can act synergistically with cutaneous AMPs to inhibit the skin pathogens (Myers et al. 2012). Several morphotypes of four families of commensal skin bacteria were identified in Phyllomedusa distincta with activity against bacterial pathogens (Brito de Assis et al. 2016), although the possible inhibitory effects on the pathogen fungus B. dendrobatidis remain unexplored. Also, this species of frog have different AMPs against bacteria, such as Phylloseptins and Dermaseptins (Brito de Assis et al. 2016; C. V. . Batista et al. 2001; Silva et al. 2008; Roberto et al. 2008). Thus, P. distincta represents an ideal model for investigation of multifaceted innate immunity approaches, which is critical to explaining the complex host-pathogen-environment interactions at the skin interface and their part in amphibian susceptibility to emerging infectious diseases (Varga et al., 2019). The physiological state of the amphibian host must be considered to understand their ability to deal with emerging

infectious diseases, given that allows to discern the direct consequences of physiological mediator levels on immunity and therefore on the microbiome of the skin. Also, since captivity may be a long-term stressor for anurans (Titon et al. 2017), it is important to understand its immune consequences to guarantee the viability of *ex-situ* programs and the eventual success of reintroduction initiatives (Zippel et al. 2011; McMahon et al. 2014; Alford and Richards 1999). Captivity may be a chronic stressor for toads, decreasing BKA and testosterone levels (Assis et al. 2017). Although, many studies with amphibians were focused on acute stress responses and its immune consequences (Narayan, Cockrem, and Hero 2013; Madelaire, Cassettari, and Gomes 2019; Assis et al. 2015; Ricciardella et al. 2010; Homan, Reed, and Romero 2003).

In the first chapter (*Emulating chronic stress: A practical approach and its immunological consequences*) we investigated if the use of subcutaneous silastic implants of CORT allows achieving chronically elevated CORT levels in *R. ornata*, and if this endocrine treatment can promote changes on a parameter of the innate immune response, the BKA. In the second chapter (*Consequences of captivity on innate immunity and skin bacteriome of São Paulo leaf frog*) we evaluated how captivity maintenance affects physiological state, immune function, and the structure of skin bacteriome, focusing especially on potentially beneficial bacteria against emerging pathogens.

References

- Alford, R. A., & Richards, S. J. (1999). Global amphibian declines: A problem in applied ecology. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, *30*, 133–165. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.30.1.133
- Assis, V. R., Monteiro Titon, S. C., Teixeira Queiroz-Hazarbassanov, N. G., de Oliveira Massoco, C., & Ribeiro Gomes, F. (2017). Corticosterone transdermal application in toads (*Rhinella icterica*): Effects on cellular and humoral immunity and steroid plasma levels. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 327(4), 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2093
- Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., Monteirotiton, S. C., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., De Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., & Gomes, F. R. (2015). Effects of Acute Restraint Stress, Prolonged Captivity Stress and Transdermal Corticosterone Application on Immunocompetence and Plasma Levels of Corticosterone on the Cururu Toad (*Rhinella icterica*). *PloS One*, *10*(4), e0121005. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121005
- Baldissera, F. (2010). Rhinella ornata. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2010: e.T61754A12554682. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2010: E.T61754A12554682. http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/61754/0
- Barnes, E. M., Carter, E. L., & Lewis, J. D. (2020). Predicting Microbiome Function Across Space Is Confounded by Strain-Level Differences and Functional Redundancy Across Taxa. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00101
- Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon Junior, B., Titon, S. C. M., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Dehydration as a stressor in toads (Rhinella ornata). *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 331(3), 168–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2250
- Batista, C. V. ., Scaloni, A., Rigden, D. J., Silva, L. R., Rodrigues Romero, A., Dukor, R., Sebben, A., Talamo, F., & Bloch, C. (2001). A novel heterodimeric antimicrobial peptide from the tree-frog Phyllomedusa distincta. *FEBS Letters*, 494(1–2), 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02324-9
- Bletz, M. C., Loudon, A. H., Becker, M. H., Bell, S. C., Woodhams, D. C., Minbiole, K. P. C., & Harris, R. N. (2013). Mitigating amphibian chytridiomycosis with bioaugmentation: characteristics of effective probiotics and strategies for their selection and use. *Ecology Letters*, 16(6), 807–820. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12099
- Boman, H. G. (2003). Antibacterial peptides: basic facts and emerging concepts. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 254(3), 197–215. https://doi.org/doi:10.1046/j.1365-2796.2003.01228.x
- Bonier, F., Martin, P. R., Moore, I. T., & Wingfield, J. C. (2009). Do baseline glucocorticoids predict fitness? In *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 24, Issue 11, pp. 634–642). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.04.013
- Brito de Assis, A., Dos Santos, C., Dutra, F. P., de Oliveira Motta, A., Costa, F. S., Navas, C. A., Magalhães, B. S., & Barreto, C. C. (2016). Assessing Antibacterial Potential of Components of *Phyllomedusa distincta* Skin and its Associated Dermal Microbiota. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-016-0665-3

- Burkart, D., Flechas, S. V., Vredenburg, V. T., & Catenazzi, A. (2017). Cutaneous bacteria, but not peptides, are associated with chytridiomycosis resistance in Peruvian marsupial frogs. *Animal Conservation*, 20(6), 483–491. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12352
- Byrd, A. L., Belkaid, Y., & Segre, J. A. (2018). The human skin microbiome. *Nature Publishing Group*, *16*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.157
- Carey, C., Cohen, N., & Rollins-Smith, L. (1999). Amphibian declines: An immunological perspective. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 23(6), 459–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(99)00028-2
- Colombo, B. M., Scalvenzi, T., Benlamara, S., & Pollet, N. (2015). Microbiota and Mucosal Immunity in Amphibians. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 6(March), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00111
- Conlon, J. M., Iwamuro, S., & King, J. D. (2009). Dermal cytolytic peptides and the system of innate immunity in anurans. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1163*, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.03618.x
- Crossin, G. T., Love, O. P., Cooke, S. J., & Williams, T. D. (2016). Glucocorticoid manipulations in free-living animals: Considerations of dose delivery, life-history context and reproductive state. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12482
- Daszak, P., Berger, L., Cunningham, A. A., Hyatt, A. D., Earl Green, D., & Speare, R. (1999). Emerging infectious diseases and amphibian population declines. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 5(6), 735–748. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0506.990601
- Daszak, P., Cunningham, A. A., & Hyatt, A. D. (2003). Infectious disease and amphibian population declines. In *Diversity and Distributions* (Vol. 9, Issue 2, pp. 141–150). Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-4642.2003.00016.x
- Davies, S., Noor, S., Carpentier, E., & Deviche, P. (2016). Innate immunity and testosterone rapidly respond to acute stress, but is corticosterone at the helm? *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology*, 186(7), 907–918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00360-016-0996-y
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2002). Stress-induced augmentation of immune function—The role of stress hormones, leukocyte trafficking, and cytokines. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 16(6), 785–798. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-1591(02)00036-3
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2009). Enhancing versus Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function: Implications for Immunoprotection and Immunopathology Enhancing vs. Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 16(5), 300–317. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216188
- Dhabhar, F. S., & McEwen, B. S. (1997). Acute stress enhances while chronic stress suppresses cell-mediated immunity in vivo: A potential role for leukocyte trafficking. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 11(4), 286–306. https://doi.org/10.1006/brbi.1997.0508
- DuRant, S. E., Romero, L. M., Talent, L. G., & Hopkins, W. A. (2008). Effect of exogenous corticosterone on respiration in a reptile. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 156(1), 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.12.004
- Elkan, E. (1968). Mucopolysacarides in the anuran defence against desiccation. J. Zool., 155, 19–53.
- Falso, P. G., Noble, C. A., Diaz, J. M., & Hayes, T. B. (2015). The effect of long-term corticosterone treatment on blood cell differentials and function in laboratory and wild-caught amphibian models. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 212,

73-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.003

- Gardner, S., Assis, V. R., Zhao, H., Gomes, F. R., Peatman, E., & Mendonça, M. T. (2018). Differential gene expression to an LPS challenge in relation to exogenous corticosterone in the invasive cane toad (*Rhinella marina*). *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 88(April), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2018.07.016
- Garvy, B. A., King, L. E., Telford, W. G., Morford, L. A., & Fraker, P. J. (1993). Chronic elevation of plasma corticosterone causes reductions in the number of cycling cells of the B lineage in murine bone marrow and induces apoptosis. *Immunology*, 80(4), 587–592.
- Gomes, A. A., Giri, B., Saha, A., Mishra, R., Dasgupta, S. C., Debnath, A., & Gomes, A. A. (2007). Bioactive molecules from amphibian skin: Their biological activities with reference to therapeutic potentials for possible drug development. In *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology* (Vol. 45, Issue 7, pp. 579–593).
- Gomes, F. R., Oliveira, R. V., Assis, V. R., Junior, B. T., Moretti, E. H., & Mendonça, M. T. (2012). Interspecific Variation in Innate Immune Defenses and Stress Response of Toads from Botucatu (São Paulo, Brazil). *South American Journal of Herpetology*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.2994/057.007.0101
- Grice, E. A., & Segre, J. A. (2011). The skin microbiome. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(4), 244–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2537
- Haslam, I. S., Roubos, E. W., Mangoni, M. L., Yoshizato, K., Vaudry, H., Kloepper, J. E., Pattwell, D. M., Maderson, P. F. A., & Paus, R. (2014). From frog integument to human skin: Dermatological perspectives from frog skin biology. *Biological Reviews*, 89(3), 618–655. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12072
- Heimlich, D., Harrison, A., & Mason, K. (2014). Host Antimicrobial Peptides in Bacterial Homeostasis and Pathogenesis of Disease. *Antibiotics*, 3(4), 645–676. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics3040645
- Homan, R. N., Reed, J. M., & Romero, L. M. (2003). Corticosterone concentrations in free-living spotted salamanders (*Ambystoma maculatum*). General and *Comparative Endocrinology*, 130(2), 165–171. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12568794
- James, T. Y., Toledo, L. F., Rödder, D., da Silva Leite, D., Belasen, A. M., Betancourt-Román, C. M., Jenkinson, T. S., Soto-Azat, C., Lambertini, C., Longo, A. V., Ruggeri, J., Collins, J. P., Burrowes, P. A., Lips, K. R., Zamudio, K. R., & Longcore, J. E. (2015). Disentangling host, pathogen, and environmental determinants of a recently emerged wildlife disease: Lessons from the first 15 years of amphibian chytridiomycosis research. *Ecology and Evolution*, 5(18), 4079–4097. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1672
- Jiménez, R. R., & Sommer, S. (2017). The amphibian microbiome: natural range of variation, pathogenic dysbiosis, and role in conservation. In *Biodiversity and Conservation*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1272-x
- Juneau, V., Gilmour, K. M., & Blouin-Demers, G. (2015). Cocoa Butter Injections, but not Sealed or Perforated Silastic Implants, of Corticosterone can be used to Chronically Elevate Corticosterone in Free-Living Painted Turtles (*Chrysemys picta*). Journal of Herpetology, 49(4), 662–670. https://doi.org/10.1670/13-125
- Kaiser, K., Devito, J., Jones, C. G., Marentes, A., Perez, R., Umeh, L., Weickum, R. M., McGovern, K. E., Wilson, E. H., & Saltzman, W. (2015). Reproductive and immune effects of chronic corticosterone treatment in male White's treefrogs, *Litoria caerulea. Conservation Physiology*, 3(1), cov022. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cov022

- Kearns, P. J., Fischer, S., Fernández-Beaskoetxea, S., Gabor, C. R., Bosch, J., Bowen, J. L., Tlusty, M. F., & Woodhams, D. C. (2017). Fight fungi with fungi: Antifungal properties of the amphibian mycobiome. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(DEC), 2494. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02494
- Koresh, E., Matas, D., & Koren, L. (2016). Experimental elevation of wildlife testosterone using silastic tube implants. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 108, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2016.07.005
- Madelaire, C. B., Cassettari, B. de O., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Immunomodulation by testosterone and corticosterone in toads: Experimental evidences from transdermal application. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 273(October 2017), 227– 235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2018.09.005

McEwen, B. S., & Stellar, E. (1993). Stress and the Individual: Mechanisms Leading to Disease. Archives of Internal Medicine, 153(18), 2093–2101. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1993.00410180039004

- McMahon, T. A., Sears, B. F., Venesky, M. D., Bessler, S. M., Brown, J. M., Deutsch, K., Halstead, N. T., Lentz, G., Tenouri, N., Young, S., Civitello, D. J., Ortega, N., Fites, J. S., Reinert, L. K., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Raffel, T. R., & Rohr, J. R. (2014). Amphibians acquire resistance to live and dead fungus overcoming fungal immunosuppression. *Nature*, *511*(7508), 224–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13491
- Munck, A., Gurye, P. M., & Holbrook, N. J. (1984). Physiological Functions of Glucocorticoids in Stress and their Relationship to Pharmacological Actions. *Endocrine Reviews*, *5*, 25–44.
- Myers, J. M., Ramsey, J. P., Blackman, A. L., Nichols, A. E., Minbiole, K. P. C., & Harris, R. N. (2012). Synergistic Inhibition of the Lethal Fungal Pathogen Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis: The Combined Effect of Symbiotic Bacterial Metabolites and Antimicrobial Peptides of the Frog *Rana muscosa*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 38(8), 958–965. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-012-0170-2
- Narayan, E. J., Cockrem, J. F., & Hero, J. (2013). Repeatability of baseline corticosterone and short-term corticosterone stress responses, and their correlation with testosterone and body condition in a terrestrial breeding anuran (*Platymantis vitiana*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A, 165(2), 304–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.03.033
- Ohmer, M. E., Robertson, J. M., & Zamudio, K. R. (2009). Discordance in body size, colour pattern, and advertisement call across genetically distinct populations in a Neotropical anuran (*Dendropsophus ebraccatus*). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 97(2), 298–313. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.2009.01210.x
- Pask, J. D., Woodhams, D. C., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2012). The ebb and flow of antimicrobial skin peptides defends northern leopard frogs (*Rana pipiens*) against chytridiomycosis. *Global Change Biology*, 18(4), 1231–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02622.x
- Pessier, A. P. (2002). An overview of amphibian skin disease. *Seminars in Avian and Exotic Pet Medicine*, 11(3), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1053/saep.2002.123980
- Quispe, R., Trappschuh, M., Gahr, M., & Goymann, W. (2015). Towards more physiological manipulations of hormones in field studies: Comparing the release dynamics of three kinds of testosterone implants, silastic tubing, time-release pellets and beeswax. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 212, 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.007

Radek, K. A., Elias, P. M., Taupenot, L., Mahata, S. K., O'Connor, D. T., Gallo, R. L.,

Daniel, T., Connor, O., & Gallo, R. L. (2010). Neuroendocrine nicotinic receptor activation increases susceptibility to bacterial infections by suppressing antimicrobial peptide production. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 7(4), 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.009.Neuroendocrine

- Ricciardella, L. F., Bliley, J. M., Feth, C. C., & Woodley, S. K. (2010). Acute stressors increase plasma corticosterone and decrease locomotor activity in a terrestrial salamander (*Desmognathus ochrophaeus*). *Physiology and Behavior*, 101(1), 81– 86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.04.022
- Roberto, J., Leite, S. A., Brand, G. D., Silva, L. P., Kückelhaus, S. A. S., Bento, W. R. C., Araújo, A. L. T., Martins, G. R., Lazzari, A. M. A. M., Bloch, C., Leite, J. R. S. A., Brand, G. D., Silva, L. P., K??ckelhaus, S. A. S., Bento, W. R. C., Ara??jo, A. L. T., Martins, G. R., Lazzari, A. M. A. M., & Bloch, C. (2008). Dermaseptins from *Phyllomedusa oreades* and *Phyllomedusa distincta*: Secondary structure, antimicrobial activity, and mammalian cell toxicity. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology A Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, *151*(3), 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.03.016
- Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2017). Amphibian immunity–stress, disease, and climate change. Developmental and Comparative Immunology, 66, 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2016.07.002
- Romero, L. (2004). Physiological stress in ecology: lessons from biomedical research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19, 249–255.
- Sapolsky, R. M., Romero, L. M., & Munck, A. U. (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. *Endocrine Reviews*, 21(1), 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.21.1.55
- Scheele, B. C., Pasmans, F., Skerratt, L. F., Berger, L., Martel, A., Beukema, W.,
 Acevedo, A. A., Burrowes, P. A., Carvalho, T., Catenazzi, A., De La Riva, I.,
 Fisher, M. C., Flechas, S. V., Foster, C. N., Frías-Álvarez, P., Garner, T. W. J.,
 Gratwicke, B., Guayasamin, J. M., Hirschfeld, M., ... Canessa, S. (2019).
 Amphibian fungal panzootic causes catastrophic and ongoing loss of biodiversity. *Science*, 363(6434), 1459–1463. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav0379
- Silva, L. P., Leite, J. R. S. A., Brand, G. D., Regis, W. B., Tedesco, A. C., Azevedo, R. B., Freitas, S. M., Bloch, C., Roberto, J., Leite, S. A., Brand, G. D., Regis, W. B., Tedesco, A. C., Azevedo, R. B., Freitas, S. M., & Bloch, C. (2008). Dermaseptins from *Phyllomedusa oreades* and *Phyllomedusa distincta* : Liposomes fusion and / or lysis investigated by fluorescence and atomic force microscopy ☆. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology A Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 151(3), 329–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.02.031
- Simmaco, M., Boman, A., Mangoni, M. L., Mignogna, G., Miele, R., Barra, D., & Boman, H. G. (1997). Effect of glucocorticoids on the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides in amphibian skin. *FEBS Letters*, 416(3), 273–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(97)01216-7
- Simmaco, M., Mangoni, M. L., Boman, A., Barra, D., Boman, H. G., Simmaco, Mangoni, M. L., Boman, Barra, & Boman. (1998). Experimental Infections of *Rana esculenta* with *Aeromonas hydrophila*: A Molecular Mechanism for the Control of the Normal Flora. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 48(4), 357– 363. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3083.1998.00407.x
- Tamaru, C. S., Lee, C. S., Ha, P. Y., Ginoza, J. M., Aida, K., & Hanyu, I. (1990). Release rates of steroids from silastic tube implants in vitro and in vivo with juvenile milkfish, Chanos chanos. *Aquaculture*, 87(1), 91–101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(90)90213-7

- Tatiersky, L., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Lu, R., Jardine, C., Barker, I. K., Clark, M. E., & Caswell, J. L. (2015). Effect of glucocorticoids on expression of cutaneous antimicrobial peptides in northern leopard frogs (*Lithobates pipiens*). *BMC Veterinary Research*, 11(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-015-0506-6
- Thaker, M., Lima, S. L., & Hews, D. K. (2009). Acute corticosterone elevation enhances antipredator behaviors in male tree lizard morphs. *Hormones and Behavior*, 56(1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.02.009
- Titon, S. C. M., Assis, V. R., Titon Junior, B., Cassettari, B. de O., Fernandes, P. A. C. M., & Gomes, F. R. (2017). Captivity effects on immune response and steroid plasma levels of a Brazilian toad (*Rhinella schneideri*). *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 327(2–3), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2078
- Titon, S. C. M., Titon, B., Barsotti, A. M. G., Gomes, F. R., & Assis, V. R. (2019). Time-related immunomodulation by stressors and corticosterone transdermal application in toads. *PLOS ONE*, 14(9), e0222856. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222856
- Toledo, R. C., & Jared, C. (1995). Cutaneous granular glands and amphibian venoms. In *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -- Part A: Physiology* (Vol. 111, Issue 1, pp. 1–29). https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(95)98515-I
- van Kesteren, F., Delehanty, B., Westrick, S. E., Palme, R., Boonstra, R., Lane, J. E., Boutin, S., McAdam, A. G., & Dantzer, B. (2019). Experimental Increases in Glucocorticoids Alter Function of the HPA Axis in Wild Red Squirrels without Negatively Impacting Survival and Reproduction. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 92(5), 445–458. https://doi.org/10.1086/705121
- Varga, J. F. A., Bui-Marinos, M. P., & Katzenback, B. A. (2019). Frog skin innate immune defences: Sensing and surviving pathogens. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 10, Issue JAN). Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.03128
- Viswanathan, K., & Dhabhar, F. S. (2005). Stress-induced enhancement of leukocyte trafficking into sites of surgery or immune activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(16), 5808–5813. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501650102
- Wiegers, G. J., & Reul, J. M. H. M. (1998). Induction of cytokine receptors by glucocorticoids: functional and pathological significance. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 19(8), 317–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-6147(98)01229-2
- Woodhams, D. C., Alford, R. A., Antwis, R. E., Archer, H., Becker, M. H., Belden, L. K., Bell, S. C., Bletz, M., Daskin, J. H., Davis, L. R., Flechas, S. V., Lauer, A., Gonzalez, A., Harris, R. N., Holden, W. M., Hughey, M. C., Ibáñez, R., Knight, R., Kueneman, J., ... McKenzie, V. (2015). Antifungal isolates database of amphibian skin-associated bacteria and function against emerging fungal pathogens. *Ecology*, 96(2), 595–595. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1837.1
- Woodhams, D. C., Bletz, M., Kueneman, J., & McKenzie, V. (2016). Managing Amphibian Disease with Skin Microbiota. *Trends in Microbiology*, 24(3), 161– 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2015.12.010
- Zamudio, S. R., Quevedo-Corona, L., Garcés, L., & De La Cruz, F. (2009). The effects of acute stress and acute corticosterone administration on the immobility response in rats. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 80(6), 331–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2009.09.005

Zippel, K., Johnson, K., Gagliardo, R., Gibson, R., McFadden, M., Browne, R., Martinez, C., & Townsend, E. (2011). The amphibian Ark: A global community for ex situ conservation of amphibians. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 6(3), 340–352. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260427036

CHAPTER 1. — EMULATING CHRONIC STRESS: A PRACTICAL APPROACH AND ITS IMMUNOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

FARIDE LAMADRID-FERIS^{1,*}, BRUNA DE OLIVEIRA CASSETTARI², CATHERINE R. BEVIER³, VANIA REGINA ASSIS¹ AND FERNANDO RIBEIRO GOMES¹

¹Department of Physiology, Biosciences Institute, University of Sao Paulo, Rua do Matão, trav. 14, 101, 05508-090, Sao Paulo, SP/Brazil ²Department of Ecology, Biosciences Institute, University of Sao Paulo, Rua do Matão, trav. 14, 321, 05508-090, Sao Paulo, SP/Brazil ³Department of Biology, Colby College, Waterville, Maine, USA *Corresponding author: <u>faridelamadrid@gmail.com</u>

1.1. Abstract

Under stress conditions, increasing levels of glucocorticoids (GCs), and other physiological mediators in vertebrates, influence a suite of physiological functions that include immunity. Depending on the lasting and intensity of the stress response, it could lead to immune enhancement when acute, or immunosuppressive when chronic, in most cases. However, study chronic stress responses are experimentally difficult for most vertebrate groups because the temporal pattern and its effects are not completely understood. Here, we evaluated (1) the use of subcutaneous silastic implants of corticosterone (CORT) as a method to emulate a chronic stressor in amphibians anurans under laboratory conditions and (2) to test if chronically increased levels of CORT achieved through this method are related to changes on a parameter of the innate immune response (plasma bacterial killing ability—BKA). For this, we tested two sizes of CORT silastic implants, 7mm and 15 mm, in adult males of *Rhinella ornata* (Bufonidae) for 15

days. We found that CORT implants are capable of chronic increase the CORT plasma levels. The sustained increase of CORT achieves by the implants allowed us to see the split on time between acute and chronic effects. The CORT increase reached by the treatment enhances the BKA from day 1st to 10th, and on 15th produces a BKA impairment.

Keywords: Anurans; BKA; Corticosterone, Innate immunity; Rhinella ornata.

1.2. Introduction

Different stressors such as environmental changes and emerging diseases could trigger the stress response (Homan et al. 2003; Rollins-Smith et al. 2011; Reeve et al. 2013). The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal/Interrenal (HPA/I) axis is activated in response to stressors, leading to increased circulating levels of GCs in vertebrates (Selye 1950; Chrousos 2002; Miller 2018). The increased secretion of GCs during a stress response influence several physiological functions, including immunity (Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000; Webster, Tonelli, and Sternberg 2002). Acute stress response, usually lasting from minutes to hours, can be adaptive and lead to immune enhancement, increasing, for instance, cell effector function, antibody production, and pro-inflammatory cytokines (Dhabhar and McEwen 1997). In contrast, chronic stress response, persisting for several hours per day, for weeks, or months, can be immunosuppressive (Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000; McCormick, Shea, and Langkilde 2015) decreasing cellular (Garvy et al. 1993; Kaiser et al. 2015) and humoral response (Brooks and Mateo 2013; Assis et al. 2015), and delaying cutaneous wound healing (Thomas and Woodley 2015).

Stress response is highly complex, encompassing changes in multiple mediators and effectors, which also depend on time of exposition to stressors (McEwen and Stellar 1993; Sapolsky, Romero, and Munck 2000; Dhabhar 2009). Even emulating changes in

31

one mediator of the stress response, such as GCsids, is challenging under chronic conditions (Boonstra 2013; Falso et al. 2015). For this, one of the experimental approaches conceived is multiple transdermal applications of GCsids, such as corticosterone (CORT; the main GCs in amphibians) (Wack, Lovern, and Woodley 2010; Assis et al. 2015). However, this method frequently results in CORT elevations that are not continuous through time, limiting the interpretation of emulating patterns of HPI axis activation during chronic stress (McCormick, Shea, and Langkilde 2015; Assis et al. 2015; Kaiser et al. 2015; Assis et al. 2017).

In that way, the experimental solution to induce chronically increased CORT levels must include the use of techniques allowing control of time, concentration, and rate of hormone release. Subcutaneous implants using silicone tubing (Tamaru et al. 1990; Salvante and Williams 2003; Quispe et al. 2015; Koresh, Matas, and Koren 2016), cocoa butter (Juneau, Gilmour, and Blouin-Demers 2015), or beeswax implants (Beck et al. 2016) represent valuable methods to get continuous release rate and elevated levels of steroid hormones for prolonged periods in vertebrates (*e.g.*, birds, Salvante and Williams, 2003; mammals, Koresh et al., 2016; and snakes, Claunch et al., 2017). For instance, silastic implants maintained high doses of CORT for at least one month in reptiles (Morici, Elsey, and Lance 1997), and raised CORT plasma levels for up to 90 days in birds (Pravosudov 2003). In anurans, silastic implants increased estradiol plasma level for 30 days (Vandorpe and Kühn 1989); testosterone plasma levels for 26 weeks (Regnier and Herrera 1993), and CORT plasma levels up to 28 days (Falso et al. 2015). However, it is necessary to calibrate volumes and releasing rates for each studied species and life-history context (Sopinka et al. 2015; Crossin et al. 2016).

The impact of chronic stress on the immune response is particularly relevant for amphibians, given these vertebrates have suffered elevated rates of population declines associated with environmental changes interacting with emerging infectious diseases caused by bacteria as Aeromonas hydrophila (Tiberti 2011; Rivas 2016), iridoviruses (Chen and Robert 2011), fungus as Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis (Rollins-Smith et al. 2011), and parasites as trematodes (Pessier 2002). Using subcutaneous silastic implants as a source of CORT to increase plasma levels in anurans would enable us to test the efficacy of this method to reach CORT chronic levels and to assess its immune effects. Rhinella ornata (Bufonidae), is a nonthreatened Brazilian toad from the Atlantic forest (Baldissera 2010), for which it has been previously shown that intense acute stressors, such as restraint of movements and dehydration can induce immunosuppression (F. R. Gomes et al. 2012; Barsotti et al. 2019). Recently, immuno-enhancing effects following short and mid-term stressors and immunosuppressive effects following captivity maintenance as a long-term stressor and long-term CORT transdermal application were demonstrated for these toads (Titon et al. 2019). Here, we used subcutaneous silastic implants of CORT in the Brazilian cururuzinho toad (R. ornata) to evaluate: (1) if this method allows achieving chronically elevated CORT levels, and (2) if this endocrine treatment can promote changes on a parameter of the innate immune response (plasma bacterial killing ability - BKA). We expected chronically increased CORT plasma levels and decreased capacity of plasma to limit bacterial proliferation in response to subcutaneous silastic implants of CORT.

1.3. Materials and Methods

1.3.1. Animals and Study Site

Rhinella ornata is a neotropical toad, family Bufonidae of the lowland Atlantic forest of Brazil. This toad uses temporary pools of the forest for reproduction and seems tolerant to habitat modification because there are populations in human intervened areas (Baldissera, Caramaschi, and Haddad 2004; Baldissera 2010). We used 12 adult males collected in fragments of Atlantic forest, at the Botanical Garden of São Paulo (23.6416° S, 46.6234° W) and in the campus of the University of São Paulo (23°33'45''S, 46°43'40''W). Specimens collection was under the authorization of IBAMA (SISBIO process 178951) and experimental procedures were under the approval of the Ethics Committee on the Use of Vertebrate Animals in Experimentation (protocol 259/2016 (Proc. 16.1.319.41.1)).

1.3.2. Captive Maintenance Conditions.

The specimens were individually maintained into plastic containers [20.0 L – 43.0 L x 28.5 W x 26.5 H cms]. with a substrate of dry leaves for hiding, and free access to a recipient of water. The lids of the containers had holes to allow air circulation. Lighting conditions and temperature kept constant (LD 13h [light turned on at 06:30 am] and 11h of dark [light turned off 07:30 pm] and 22 \pm 2°C). The containers were cleaned, and toads were fed with cockroaches once per week throughout the experiment. The toads were kept in these conditions for one month (habituation period) and subsequently for the 15 days of experiment.

1.3.3. Collecting and Processing Blood Samples.

We collected blood samples (about 100 μ l) via cardiac puncture by using 1ml syringes and previously heparinized 26Gx1/2" needles. Only blood samples collected within 3 min from any disturbance were considered for analyses, to avoid any influence of the stress of capture and manipulation on hormone levels (L Michael Romero and Reed 2005). Blood samples were labeled and kept in ice up to 10 minutes until centrifugation. Plasma samples (a range of 20–80 μ l) were obtained by centrifugation (4 min at 604g) and stored at -80°C for posterior hormone assays and BKA analyses. These procedures were repeated on days 1, 5, 10, and 15 after implantation of the silastics tubes (see 2.5).

1.3.4. Experimental Design

We used 12 adult males for this experiment. Blood samples were collected for each individual one day before silastic tubes were implanted (day 0), and on days 1, 5, 10, and 15 after implantation. After blood sampling on day 0, we weighed (16.3 g) and measured the snout-vent length (5.62 cm) of toads. Then, we assigned randomly four toads to each treatment group (I7 and I15) or the placebo group (Pl), with no statistical differences in weight or size between treatments (df = 2; $F_{2,9} = 0.5338$; P = 0.6038). We subsequently manipulated the circulating levels of CORT during 15 days using silastic tubes (see 2.5).

1.3.5. Silastic Implants

We used implants of 7 mm (I7) and 15 mm (I15) of size, filled with CORT to test for possible differences in resulting CORT plasma levels. We used empty 7 mm implants in the placebo group (PL). For each type of implant (empty and filled) we cut pieces of silicone tubing (Perfimed ®, Brazil; 1.50mm inner diameter, and 2mm outer diameter), then we sealed one end with nontoxic silicone glue (Pulvitec Polystic Ref. 106612), and we filled them with crystalline corticosterone (Sigma - 27840). All implants were washed with ethanol (70%) and allowed to dry overnight for sterilization. After collecting a blood sample, as mentioned before, we performed a minor surgery in each individual to insert one implant subcutaneously on the right side of the abdomen. We made a superficial cut of 2,5 mm by using an ophthalmic scissor, sliding the implant below the skin, and closing the incision externally with tissue adhesive (Ethyl-2-Cyanoacrylate, Epiglu®). To avoid infections, we made all the procedures with sterilized gloves and dissection equipment, and we left the animals fasting 24 hours after the surgeries.

1.3.6. Hormonal Assay

We extracted plasma samples with ether according to (Mendonça et al. 1996; Titon et al. 2019; Assis et al. 2015). Thereby, 3 ml of ether added to 10 μ l of each sample, and vortexed for 30 seconds and centrifuged (4°C, 9 min, at 583 G). Next, the samples decanted in -80°C freezer for 7min and the liquid phase transferred to another tube. These tubes were kept in laminar flow hood at room temperature ($20 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) until all the ether had evaporated (approximately 24h). Then, we resuspended the samples in EIA buffer and assayed CORT using EIA kits (number 500655, Cayman Chemical - AnnArbor, MI, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions and previous studies of (Assis et al. 2017; Titon et al. 2019). Intraassay variation (estimated from sample duplicates) and inter-assay variation (estimated from the average of four intermediate values from the standard curve, as recommended by the kit instructions), were 6,3%. and 15.77%, respectively. The sensitivity of the assays, calculated as 80% B/B0 curve value, was 35.72 pg/mL.

1.3.7. Bacterial Killing Ability (BKA)

This assay characterizes humoral innate immune response that involves the action of opsonizing proteins (Demas et al. 2011), to recognize and promote cell lysis of a foreign microorganism (Millet et al. 2007; Matson, Tieleman, and Klasing 2006). BKA was performed using an anuran opportunistic pathogen, the gram-negative bacteria *Aeromonas hydrophila* (IOC/FDA 110–36), following the protocol proposed to *Escherichia coli* by Assis and collaborators (2013) with the modifications for *A. hydrophila* proposed by Moretti and collaborators (2019). A sample of stock cultured (bacteria + tryptic soy broth [TSB] + glycerol at -80 °C) was resuspended in 5 mL sterile TSB and incubated overnight at 37 °C. Then, 24 hours later, bacteria concentration was measured in a spectrophotometer (Spectra Max 250, at 595 nm).
Serial dilutions in sterile amphibian Ringer solution were performed to obtain a working concentration of 2.5×10^7 microorganisms x mL⁻¹. As follow, plasma samples diluted (1:20) in amphibian Ringer's solution (10 µL plasma:190 µL Ringer) were mixed with 10 µL of bacteria working solution (2.5×10^5 microorganisms). Then, samples and controls were incubated for one hour at 37°C. Positive controls consisted of 10 µL of bacteria working solution in 200 µL of Ringer's solution, and negative controls contained 210 µL of Ringer's solution. After the incubation period, 500 µL of TSB was added to each sample. The bacterial suspensions were thoroughly mixed and 300 µL of each was transferred (in duplicate) to a 96 wells microplate. The microplate was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h, and thereafter the optical density of the samples was measured hourly in a plate spectrophotometer (wavelength: 595 nm), for a total of four readings. The plasma BKA was evaluated at the log-phase growth (bacterial exponential growth phase) and calculated according to the formula: 1 - (optical density of sample / optical density of positive control), which represents the proportion of killed microorganisms in the samples compared to the positive control.

1.3.8. Statistical analysis

We first submitted all data to descriptive statistics and tests of normality (Shapiro-Wilk test). To test if silastic implants of each group (I7, I15, and PL) affected CORT plasma levels and plasma BKA throughout time, we analyzed the data by fitting a mixed-model analysis of repeated measures data. This mixed model uses a compound symmetry covariance matrix, fitted by Restricted Maximum Likelihood (REML). Considering that we did not assume sphericity because of our design is of repeated measures in time, we used the correction of Geisser-Greenhouse as proposed by Maxwell & Delaney, (2013). We also performed multiple comparisons tests using Bonferroni correction to compare values between days within each treatment, and between treatments each day. We used Prism version 8.3.1 for Windows, GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA (www.graphpad.com) to conduct all the analyzes. All values showed in this research correspond to the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and values in the graphs to mean \pm standard error (SEM).

1.4. Results

The CORT silastic implants increased CORT plasma levels in interaction with time post-surgery, independently of implant size (Table 1; Fig. 1). CORT plasma levels in I7 and I15 group were higher than those from PL group on days 1, and 5, and on day 15 for I7 implants (Table 1, Fig. 1). Throughout the experiment, CORT plasma levels of both CORT-implanted groups were on average 14.4 times higher than those from the placebo group, with higher values up to day 5 and subsequently lower values by the end of the experiment (Fig. 1). CORT plasma levels remained constantly low throughout the experiment on PL toads (Fig.1). CORT implants also affected plasma BKA in interaction with time post-surgery (Table 2). Plasma BKA of CORT implanted toads (I7 and I15) was higher than those from placebo toads on day 10 post-surgery (Fig. 2, Table 2). On the other hand, plasma BKA from I7 CORT-implanted toads was lower than those from toads that received empty implants on day 15 post-surgery (Table 2, Fig. 2).

Table 1.4.1. Descriptive fixed effect test from mixed-effects model, with days as a random effect for corticosterone plasma levels of *Rhinella ornata* with subcutaneous silastic implants empty (PL) and filled with corticosterone (I7 and I15). CORT: Corticosterone; PL: Placebo group; I7: CORT silastic implant of 7 mm; I15: CORT silastic implant of 15 mm; REML: Restricted maximum likelihood. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001.

CORT plasma levels					
Mixed-effects model (REML)					
	P value	F-statistic			
Day	<0.001**	$F_{2,15} = 13.76$			
Treatment	<0.001**	$F_{2,9} = 19.31$			
Day x Treatment	0.003*	$F_{8,31} = 3.845$			
Goodness of fit					
Degrees of freedom	38				
REML criterion	132.1				
Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test					
Day 1 st		t _(DF)			
PL vs. I7	0.002*	$t_{(4)} = 7.342$			
PL vs. 115	0.029*	$t_{(3)} = 4.244$			
Day 5 th					
PL vs. I7	0.009*	$t_{(3)} = 6.793$			
PL vs. 115	<0.001**	$t_{(4)} = 11.53$			
Day 15 th					
Table 1, continued					
	0.042*	$t_{(3)} = 4.201$			
PL vs. I7					

Table 1.4.2. Descriptive fixed effect test from mixed-effects model, with days as a random effect for the plasma BKA of Rhinella ornata with subcutaneous silastic implants empty (PL) and filled with corticosterone (I7 and I15). BKA: Bacterial Killing Ability; PL: Placebo group; I7: CORT silastic implant of 7 mm; I15: CORT silastic implant of 15 mm; REML: Restricted maximum likelihood. *P < 0.05.

BKA values			
Mixed-effects model (REML)			
	P value	F-statistic	
Day	0.0190*	F _(2, 20) = 4.586	
Treatment	0.3667	$F_{(2,9)} = 1.124$	
Day x Treatment	0.0180*	$F_{(8,35)} = 2.754$	
Goodness of fit			
Degrees of freedom	42		
REML criterion	130.6		
Bonferroni's multiple com	parisons test		
Day 10		t _(DF)	
PL vs. I7	0.0017*	$t_{(6)} = 6.196$	
PL vs. I15	0.0290*	t ₍₄₎ = 3.775	
I7			
Day 0 vs Day 15	0.0249*	t ₍₃₎ = 9.481	
Day 10 vs Day 15	0.0220*	t (4) = 9.890	

B



Figure 1.3. Corticosterone plasma levels of *Rhinella ornata* toads before (0) and after (1,5,10 and 15 days) corticosterone silastic implants. (PL) placebo with 7mm empty implant, (I7) 7mm implant filled with corticosterone and (I15) 15mm implant filled with corticosterone. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Statistical differences between groups and days were calculated by post hoc comparisons using Bonferroni adjustments in Mixed-effects models. Differences between placebo (PL) and experimental groups (I7 and I15) within each day are shown in red and with asterisks (*) for p < 0.05 and (**) for p < 0.001.



Figure 1.4. Plasma Bacterial killing assay (BKA) of *Rhinella ornata* toads before (day 0) and after (1,5,10 and 15 days) corticosterone silastic implants. (PL) placebo with 7mm empty implant, (I7) 7mm implant filled with corticosterone and (I15) 15mm implant filled with corticosterone. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Statistical differences between groups and days were calculated by post hoc comparisons using Bonferroni adjustments in Mixed-effects models. Differences between placebo (PL) and experimental groups (I7 and I15) within each day are shown in red. The statistical difference between days 0 and 10 within I7 group, and between day 10 and day 15 post-surgery are shown in blue. The asterisks (*) represents p < 0.05.

1.5. Discussion

The treatment with CORT silastic implants increased the plasma CORT levels of *R. ornata* by 14.4 times (average of all days), which are similar to those values previously measured in *R. ornata* submitted to CORT transdermal application (14 times higher than the control group (Titon et al. 2019)), dehydration (14.9 times higher in mean than the control group (Barsotti et al. 2019)) and restriction of movements (10.53 times higher than the baseline values (F. R. Gomes et al. 2012)). However, higher CORT plasma levels achieved by CORT implants were not constant throughout the experiment. On day 1 after implants, plasma CORT values in CORT implanted toads were 38.5 times higher than those measured in PL toads. These supraphysiological CORT plasma levels achieved after surgery were not fatal and decreased subsequently through time, achieving constant values within the post-stressor physiological range (F. R. Gomes et al. 2012; Barsotti et al. 2019). In this way, our results suggest a relevant role of CORT silastic implant for future studies testing the physiological effects of chronically elevated CORT plasma levels.

This pattern of peaking CORT plasma levels just after CORT implants, followed of decreased values through time could be a result of using silastic implants with at least one open end, which allow rapid release of CORT at the beginning of the experiment (e. g., Birds, two sides open: (Goutte et al. 2010); Snakes, one open side and a punched hole: (Claunch et al. 2017)). Otherwise, using implants with both sides sealed usually shows lower releasing rates that depend only on material permeability (Richards 1985). Additionally, previous studies suggested than silastic implants allow continuous hormone release, but not necessarily a consistent releasing rate over time (Fusani 2008). Based on our results, to get a finely describe CORT plasma levels pattern it would interest test

CORT implants for a more prolonged time to specify the immunological effects of CORT chronic increase.

GCs are immunomodulatory, they enhance or impair immunity (Dhabhar and Mcewen 1999). On day 10 the effect of the CORT implants seems immune enhancer because the BKA values ballooned when compared to the PL group levels (Fig. 1). However, on day 15 the effects becoming chronic impairing the BKA. We expected that the chronic increase of CORT plasma levels achieved by the implants would decrease the capacity of plasma to limit bacterial proliferation. As expected, lower BKA values were observed in CORT-implanted toads after 15 days of surgery, statistically significant for the I7 group. The plasma BKA depends on lysozymes known as the complement system to kill pathogens (Merchant et al. 2003; Matson, Tieleman, and Klasing 2006; Millet et al. 2007) such as the bacteria Aeromonas hydrophila used here. The complement system is a thermolabile component, and the responsible of plasma BKA, increasing the opsonization and death of pathogens, playing an important role in coating them and facilitating their destruction by antibodies and phagocytic cells (Mayilyan et al. 2008; Speth et al. 2008; Murphy et al. 2010; Elvington, Liszewski, and Atkinson 2016). Elevated GC levels have an inhibitory effect on complement activity (Packard and Weiler 1983) through transcriptional mechanisms meditated intracellularly (Boumpas et al. 1991) and the inhibition of convertase (Gewurz et al. 1965; Jennings and Taylor 1964; Weiler and Packard 1982). Previous studies showed that confinement stress increased CORT levels in toads and decreased BKA values (Graham et al. 2012; Assis et al. 2015), suggesting that stress of movement or confinement may affect complement-mediated BKA. Lower BKA in toads implanted with CORT for a prolonged period (15 days) is consistent with immunosuppressive effects of previously observed after chronic exposition to stressors, such long-term captivity treatment (90 days), or transdermal application of CORT for 20 consecutive days in *R. ornata* (Titon et al. 2019). Suppressing BKA by prolonged exposition to increased CORT may be because of changes in transcriptional processes that take longer to manifest (Boumpas et al. 1991; Lappin and Whaley 1991; Padgett and Glaser 2003).

1.6. Conclusions

The CORT silastic implants are a useful tool for elevated CORT plasma levels in amphibians. The sustained increase of CORT achieved by the implants induced mid-term immunoenhancing and long-term immunosuppressive effects on the ability of plasma of toads (*Rhinella ornata*) to kill *Aeromonas hydrophila*, an anuran opportunistic pathogen.

1.7. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP, 2014/16320-7), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES, Finance Code 001) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq, 171088/2017-4). We also want to thanks A. G. Barsotti (IB/USP) for her help during field and lab work. F. Lamadrid-Feris also wants to thanks specially to M. Anganoy-Criollo for his revisions and comments to the document.

1.8. References

- Assis, V. R., Monteiro Titon, S. C., Teixeira Queiroz-Hazarbassanov, N. G., de Oliveira Massoco, C., & Ribeiro Gomes, F. (2017). Corticosterone transdermal application in toads (*Rhinella icterica*): Effects on cellular and humoral immunity and steroid plasma levels. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 327(4), 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2093
- Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., Monteirotiton, S. C., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., De Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., & Gomes, F. R. (2015). Effects of Acute Restraint Stress, Prolonged Captivity Stress and Transdermal Corticosterone Application on Immunocompetence and Plasma Levels of Corticosterone on the Cururu Toad (*Rhinella icterica*). *PloS One*, *10*(4), e0121005. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121005

Baldissera, F. (2010). *Rhinella ornata. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2010: e.T61754A12554682*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2010: E.T61754A12554682. http://www.iucnredlist.org/details/61754/0

Baldissera, F., Caramaschi, U., & Haddad, C. (2004). Review of the Bufo crucifer species

group, with description of two new related species (AMPHIBIA, ANURA, BUFONIDAE). *Arquivos Do Museu Nacional, 62*(3), 255–282. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2010.500127

- Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon Junior, B., Titon, S. C. M., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Dehydration as a stressor in toads (*Rhinella ornata*). Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 331(3), 168–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2250
- Beck, M. L., Davies, S., Moore, I. T., Schoenle, L. A., Kerman, K., Vernasco, B. J., & Sewall, K. B. (2016). Beeswax corticosterone implants produce long-term elevation of plasma corticosterone and influence condition. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 233, 109–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.05.021
- Boonstra, R. (2013). Reality as the leading cause of stress: rethinking the impact of chronic stress in nature. *Functional Ecology*, 27(1), 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12008
- Boumpas, D. T., Paliogianni, F., Anastassiou, E. D., & Balow, J. E. (1991). Glucocorticosteroid action on the immune system: Molecular and cellular aspects. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology*, 9(4), 413–423.
- Brooks, K. C., & Mateo, J. M. (2013). Chronically raised glucocorticoids reduce innate immune function in Belding's ground squirrels (*Urocitellus beldingi*) after an immune challenge. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 193, 149–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.07.019
- Chen, G., & Robert, J. (2011). Antiviral immunity in amphibians. *Viruses*, *3*(11), 2065–2086. https://doi.org/10.3390/v3112065
- Chrousos, G. P. (2002). The Hypothalamic–Pituitary–Adrenal Axis and Immune-Mediated Inflammation. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *332*(20), 1351–1363. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm199505183322008
- Claunch, N. M., Frazier, J. A., Escallón, C., Vernasco, B. J., Moore, I. T., & Taylor, E. N. (2017). Physiological and behavioral effects of exogenous corticosterone in a free-ranging ectotherm. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 248, 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2017.02.008
- Crossin, G. T., Love, O. P., Cooke, S. J., & Williams, T. D. (2016). Glucocorticoid manipulations in free-living animals: Considerations of dose delivery, life-history context and reproductive state. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12482
- Demas, G. E., Zysling, D. A., Beechler, B. R., Muehlenbein, M. P., & French, S. S. (2011). Beyond phytohaemagglutinin: Assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(4), 710–730. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01813.x
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2009). Enhancing versus Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function: Implications for Immunoprotection and Immunopathology Enhancing vs. Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 16(5), 300–317. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216188
- Dhabhar, F. S., & Mcewen, B. S. (1999). Enhancing versus suppressive effects of stress hormones on skin immune function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(3), 1059–1064. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.3.1059
- Dhabhar, F. S., & McEwen, B. S. (1997). Acute stress enhances while chronic stress suppresses cell-mediated immunity in vivo: A potential role for leukocyte trafficking. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 11(4), 286–306. https://doi.org/10.1006/brbi.1997.0508
- Elvington, M., Liszewski, M. K., & Atkinson, J. P. (2016). Evolution of the complement system: from defense of the single cell to guardian of the intravascular space. In *Immunological Reviews* (Vol. 274, Issue 1, pp. 9–15). Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12474
- Falso, P. G., Noble, C. A., Diaz, J. M., & Hayes, T. B. (2015). The effect of long-term corticosterone treatment on blood cell differentials and function in laboratory and wildcaught amphibian models. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 212, 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.003

- Fusani, L. (2008). Endocrinology in field studies: Problems and solutions for the experimental design. In *General and Comparative Endocrinology* (Vol. 157, Issue 3, pp. 249–253). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.04.016
- Garvy, B. A., King, L. E., Telford, W. G., Morford, L. A., & Fraker, P. J. (1993). Chronic elevation of plasma corticosterone causes reductions in the number of cycling cells of the B lineage in murine bone marrow and induces apoptosis. *Immunology*, *80*(4), 587–592.
- Gewurz, H., Wernick, P. R., Quie, P. G., & Good, R. A. (1965). Effects of hydrocortisone succinate on the complement system. *Nature*, 208(5012), 755–757. https://doi.org/10.1038/208755a0
- Gomes, F. R., Oliveira, R. V., Assis, V. R., Junior, B. T., Moretti, E. H., & Mendonça, M. T. (2012). Interspecific Variation in Innate Immune Defenses and Stress Response of Toads from Botucatu (São Paulo, Brazil). *South American Journal of Herpetology*, 7(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.2994/057.007.0101
- Goutte, A., Angelier, F., Welcker, J., Moe, B., Clément-Chastel, C., Gabrielsen, G. W., Bech, C., & Chastel, O. (2010). Long-term survival effect of corticosterone manipulation in Black-legged kittiwakes. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 167(2), 246–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.03.018
- Graham, S. P., Kelehear, C., Brown, G. P., & Shine, R. (2012). Corticosterone-immune interactions during captive stress in invading Australian cane toads (*Rhinella marina*). *Hormones and Behavior*, 62(2), 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.06.001
- Homan, R. N., Regosin, J. V., Rodrigues, D. M., Reed, J. M., Windmiller, B. S., & Romero, L. M. (2003). Impacts of varying habitat quality on the physiological stress of spotted salamanders (*Ambystoma maculatum*). *Animal Conservation*, 6(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1367943003003032
- Jennings, J. F., & Taylor, G. (1964). Effect of hydrocortisone hemi-succinate on immune lysis of sheep erythrocytes. In *Nature* (Vol. 203, Issue 4945, p. 661). Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/203661a0
- Juneau, V., Gilmour, K. M., & Blouin-Demers, G. (2015). Cocoa Butter Injections, but not Sealed or Perforated Silastic Implants, of Corticosterone can be used to Chronically Elevate Corticosterone in Free-Living Painted Turtles (*Chrysemys picta*). Journal of Herpetology, 49(4), 662–670. https://doi.org/10.1670/13-125
- Kaiser, K., Devito, J., Jones, C. G., Marentes, A., Perez, R., Umeh, L., Weickum, R. M., McGovern, K. E., Wilson, E. H., & Saltzman, W. (2015). Reproductive and immune effects of chronic corticosterone treatment in male White's treefrogs, Litoria caerulea. *Conservation Physiology*, 3(1), cov022. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cov022
- Koresh, E., Matas, D., & Koren, L. (2016). Experimental elevation of wildlife testosterone using silastic tube implants. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 108, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2016.07.005
- Lappin, D. F., & Whaley, K. (1991). Modulation of complement gene expression by glucocorticoids. *Biochemical Journal*, 280(1), 117–123. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj2800117
- Matson, K. D., Tieleman, B. I., & Klasing, K. C. (2006). Capture Stress and the Bactericidal Competence of Blood and Plasma in Five Species of Tropical Birds. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 79(3), 556–564. https://doi.org/10.1086/501057
- Maxwell, S. E., & Delaney, H. D. (2013). Designing Experiments and Analyzing Data: A Model Comparison Perspective. In *Hoboken, NJ : Taylor and Francis*.
- Mayilyan, K. R., Kang, Y. H., Dodds, A. W., & Sim, R. B. (2008). The Complement System in Innate Immunity (pp. 219–236). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73930-2_10
- McCormick, G. L., Shea, K., & Langkilde, T. (2015). How do duration, frequency, and intensity of exogenous CORT elevation affect immune outcomes of stress? *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 222, 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.07.008
- McEwen, B. S., & Stellar, E. (1993). Stress and the Individual: Mechanisms Leading to Disease. Archives of Internal Medicine, 153(18), 2093–2101. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1993.00410180039004
- Mendonça, M. T., Chernetsky, S. D., Nester, K. E., & Gardner, G. L. (1996). Effects of gonadal

sex steroids on sexual behavior in the big brown bat, *Eptesicus fuscus*, upon arousal from hibernation. *Hormones and Behavior*, 30(2), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1006/hbeh.1996.0019

- Merchant, M. E., Roche, C., Elsey, R. M., & Prudhomme, J. (2003). Antibacterial properties of serum from the American alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - B Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 136(3), 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(03)00256-2
- Miller, W. L. (2018). The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis: A Brief History. In *Hormone Research in Paediatrics* (Vol. 89, Issue 4, pp. 212–223). https://doi.org/10.1159/000487755
- Millet, S., Bennett, J., Lee, K. A., Hau, M., & Klasing, K. C. (2007). Quantifying and comparing constitutive immunity across avian species. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 31(2), 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2006.05.013
- Moretti, E. H., Titon, S. C. M., Titon, B., Marques, F. S., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Thermal sensitivity of innate immune response in three species of *Rhinella* toads. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -Part A : Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 237(August), 110542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2019.110542
- Morici, L. A., Elsey, R. M., & Lance, V. A. (1997). Effects of long-term corticosterone implants on growth and immune function in juvenile alligators, *Alligator mississippiensis*. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 279(2), 156–162. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-010X(19971001)279:2<156::AID-JEZ6>3.0.CO;2-N
- Murphy, K. M., Travers, P., Walport, M., Janeway, C., Mauri, C., & Ehrenstein, M. (2010). *Inmunobiologia de Janeway* (7a ed.). ARTMED Editora S.A. http://www.fkb.br/biblioteca/Arquivos/Ciencias/Imunobiologia de Janeway (Livro Completo) (1).pdf
- Packard, B. D., & Weiler, J. M. (1983). Steroids inhibit activation of the alternativeamplification pathway of complement. *Infection and Immunity*, 40(3), 1011–1014. https://doi.org/10.1128/iai.40.3.1011-1014.1983
- Padgett, D. A., & Glaser, R. (2003). How stress influences the immune response. *Trends in Immunology*, 24(8), 444–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(03)00173-X
- Pessier, A. P. (2002). An overview of amphibian skin disease. *Seminars in Avian and Exotic Pet Medicine*, 11(3), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1053/saep.2002.123980
- Pravosudov, V. V. (2003). Long-Term Moderate Elevation of Corticosterone Facilitates Avian Food-Caching Behaviour and Enhances Spatial Memory. In *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* (Vol. 270, pp. 2599–2604). Royal Society. https://doi.org/10.2307/3592183
- Quispe, R., Trappschuh, M., Gahr, M., & Goymann, W. (2015). Towards more physiological manipulations of hormones in field studies: Comparing the release dynamics of three kinds of testosterone implants, silastic tubing, time-release pellets and beeswax. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 212, 100–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.007
- Reeve, B. C., Crespi, E. J., Whipps, C. M., & Brunner, J. L. (2013). Natural stressors and ranavirus susceptibility in larval wood frogs (*Rana sylvatica*). *EcoHealth*, 10(2), 190–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-013-0834-6
- Regnier, M., & Herrera, A. A. (1993). Differential sensitivity to androgens within a sexually dimorphic muscle of male frogs (*Xenopus laevis*). *Journal of Neurobiology*, 24(9), 1215– 1228. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.480240908
- Richards, J. H. (1985). The Role of Polymer Permeability in the Control of Drug Release. In Polymer Permeability (pp. 217–267). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-4858-7_6
- Rivas, Z. P. (2016). Aeromonas hydrophila In Amphibians : Harmless Bystander or Opportunistic Pathogen.

https://stars.library.ucf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.com/&httpsre dir=1&article=1009&context=honorstheses

Rollins-Smith, L. A., Ramsey, J. P., Pask, J. D., Reinert, L. K., & Woodhams, D. C. (2011). Amphibian immune defenses against chytridiomycosis: impacts of changing environments. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 51(4), 552–562. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icr095

- Romero, L. M., & Reed, J. M. (2005). Collecting baseline corticosterone samples in the field: is under 3 min good enough? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A, Molecular* & *Integrative Physiology*, 140(1), 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2004.11.004
- Salvante, K. G., & Williams, T. D. (2003). Effects of corticosterone on the proportion of breeding females, reproductive output and yolk precursor levels. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 130(3), 205–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-6480(02)00637-8
- Sapolsky, R. M., Romero, L. M., & Munck, A. U. (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. *Endocrine Reviews*, 21(1), 55–89. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.21.1.55
- Selye, H. (1950). The Physiology and Pathology of Exposures to Stress. Acta Medica Publ.
- Sopinka, N. M., Patterson, L. D., Redfern, J. C., Pleizier, N. K., Belanger, C. B., Midwood, J. D., Crossin, G. T., & Cooke, S. J. (2015). Manipulating glucocorticoids in wild animals: Basic and applied perspectives. In *Conservation Physiology* (Vol. 3, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cov031
- Speth, C., Rambach, G., Würzner, R., & Lass-Flörl, C. (2008). Complement and fungal pathogens: An update. *Mycoses*, 51(6), 477–496. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0507.2008.01597.x
- Tamaru, C. S., Lee, C. S., Ha, P. Y., Ginoza, J. M., Aida, K., & Hanyu, I. (1990). Release rates of steroids from silastic tube implants in vitro and in vivo with juvenile milkfish, Chanos chanos. *Aquaculture*, 87(1), 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(90)90213-7
- Thomas, J. R., & Woodley, S. K. (2015). Treatment with corticosterone delays cutaneous wound healing in male and female salamanders. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 216, 33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.04.013
- Tiberti, R. (2011). Widespread bacterial infection affecting *Rana temporaria* tadpoles in mountain areas. *Acta Herpetologica*, 6(1), 1–10.
- Titon, S. C. M., Titon, B., Barsotti, A. M. G., Gomes, F. R., & Assis, V. R. (2019). Time-related immunomodulation by stressors and corticosterone transdermal application in toads. *PLOS* ONE, 14(9), e0222856. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222856
- Vandorpe, G., & Kühn, E. R. (1989). Estradiol-17β silastic implants in female *Rana ridibunda* depress thyroid hormone concentrations in plasma and the in vitro 5'-monodeiodination activity of kidney homogenates. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, *76*(3), 341–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-6480(89)90127-5
- Wack, C. L., Lovern, M. B., & Woodley, S. K. (2010). Transdermal delivery of corticosterone in terrestrial amphibians. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 169(3), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.09.004
- Webster, J. I., Tonelli, L., & Sternberg, E. M. (2002). Neuroendocrine Regulation of Immunity. Annual Review of Immunology, 20(1), 125–163. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.082401.104914
- Weiler, J. M., & Packard, B. D. (1982). Methylprednisolone inhibits the alternative and amplification pathways of complement. *Infection and Immunity*, 38(1), 122–126.

CHAPTER 2. — CONSEQUENCES OF CAPTIVITY ON INNATE IMMUNITY AND SKIN BACTERIOME OF SÃO PAULO LEAF FROG

Faride Lamadrid-Feris^{1*}, Zuleyma Becerra Tellez², Norberto Peporine Lopes³, Jacqueline Nakau Mendonça³, Luisa De Pontes Ribeiro⁴, Mariana Retuci Pontes⁴, Luis Felipe Toledo⁴, Fernando Ribeiro Gomes¹

¹Laboratorio de Comportamento e Fisiologia Evolutiva (LaCoFiE), Instituto de Biociências, Departmento de Fisiologia, Universidade de São Paulo, Saõ Paulo, Brazil ²Laboratory X, Instituto Ciencias Biomedicas, Department X, Universidade de São Paulo, Saõ Paulo, Brazil

³NPPNS, Departamento de Ciências Biomoleculares, Faculdade de Ciências Farmacêuticas de Ribeirão Preto, Universidade de São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo, Brazil

⁴Laboratório de História Natural de Anfibios Brasileiros (LaHNAB), Departamento de Biologia Animal, Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brazil

* Corresponding Author: faridelamadrid@gmail.com

2.1 Abstract

The skin is the first barrier against invasion and colonization of pathogens. The microbiome (microorganisms occurring inside or on the host) is part of this barrier and a collaborator of the immune system. The fast decline of amphibian populations around the

world is in part driven by the emerging infectious diseases that alter the physiology of the amphibian host and its microbiome. Captivity is an especially relevant stressor in conservation studies, since threatened species are often taken and held captive to avoid outbreaks of pathogens, habitat loss, or to be reproduced in ex-situ for liberation and reintroduction goals. Physiological mediators associated with the stress and metabolic response as GCs display complex immunomodulatory functions. Corticosterone levels can regulate the immune mechanisms like the complement system, the ionic skin profile, and in consequence, reshape and regulate the skin microbiome. To test the previous hypotheses, we used the leaf frog Phyllomedusa distincta to evaluate how captivity maintenance affects physiological state, immune function, and the structure of skin bacteriome, focusing especially on potentially beneficial bacteria against Aeromonas hydrophila and Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis. We found that captivity conditions did not increase CORT plasma levels of Phyllomedusa distincta, albeit, innate immunity parameters measured shifted with captivity time, and clear differences in α -diversity and community composition were present between wild and captive individuals. Further, the potentially beneficial bacteria anti-Ah and anti-Bd increased with time in captivity. We conclude that experimental researches and conservation programs with anurans must consider captivity time and conditions. The consequences observed in the innate immune function and skin bacteriome can determine the success of future reintroduction programs.

Keywords: Corticosterone, BKA, *Phyllomedusa distincta, Aeromonas hydrophila, Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*, skin ionic profile, core community.

2.2 Introduction

The immune function is conceptually divided into innate (immediate and stereotyped response to all new antigens) and adaptive or acquired (slow, specific, and depending on a previous exposition to the antigen) (Abbas, Lichtman, and Pillai 2007). The elements of innate immunity are conserved among vertebrates, including external physical barriers as skin, humoral mechanisms (e.g. as antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), complement system, and lysozymes), and cellular effector mechanisms as T lymphocytes, phagocytic B cells, etc. (*Reviewed in* Riera Romo et al., 2016). The AMPs, secreted by the granular (or serous) skin glands in amphibians belong to the innate immune humoral response (Demas et al. 2011), disturbing the pathogens membranes structure to kill them (Simmaco et al. 1998; Conlon 2011), regulating the skin microbiome who can vary among species and populations of host (Jiménez and Sommer 2017; Loudon et al. 2014). The skin is the first barrier to pathogens and can also be its target. Epithelial barrier against invasion and colonization is constituted by physical barriers and by chemical shield encompassed by antimicrobial molecules like peptides and enzyme inhibitors (Radek et al. 2010; Aberg et al. 2008; Brunetti et al. 2018).

In the last years, the studies showed the microbiome as part of the barriers against pathogens and a collaborator of the immune system (Thaiss et al. 2016; Forsythe and Bienenstock 2010; Jiménez and Sommer 2017). Currently, we know the crosstalk between innate immunity and the microbiome (all microorganisms that colonize the body and their genomes) extends far beyond the achievement of a careful balance between tolerance and commensal microorganisms and immunity to pathogens (Thaiss et al. 2016). The innate immune system and the microbiome have a network of interactions affecting one another, orchestrating immunological processes and stabling microbial composition (Thaiss et al. 2014; Brunetti et al. 2018). Also, the complex ecosystem of the microbiome is shaped by interactions with the environment and host factors that influence colonization and resilience dynamics (Costello et al. 2009; Rosenthal et al. 2011). Plenty of skin microbiota research has been culture-based and has shown that amphibian skin microbial communities mediate disease susceptibility (Smith et al. 2018; Burkart et al. 2017). Otherwise, culture-independent approaches allow the identification of uncultivable members of the community (Kueneman et al. 2014; Belden and Harris 2007; Jiménez and Sommer 2017) enabling more accurate ecological studies. Together these methods enable us to characterize the structure of the amphibian skin microbiome and its dynamics (J. Xu 2006; Scanlan and Marchesi 2008; Gilbert and Dupont 2011; Su et al. 2012; Pandya et al. 2017).

One of the principal drives to the fast decline of amphibians populations around the world are the emerging infectious diseases and the habitat disturbances (Rachowicz et al. 2005; Daszak, Cunningham, and Hyatt 2000; Blaustein et al. 2018). The chytridiomycosis produced by the fungus *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* (Bd) and *B. salamandrivorans* (Kilpatrick, Briggs, and Daszak 2010; Van Rooij et al. 2015), the red leg syndrome a bacterial septicemia caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila* (Ah), *Pseudomonas spp*, *Acinetobacter lwoffi*, *Citrobacter freundii*, *Chryseobacterium spp*, and others, or Iridovirus as the genus *Ranavirus* (Pessier 2002) are examples of this emerging infectious diseases affecting the amphibian populations. For that reason, emerging infectious diseases have been the principal focus of several studies for the last years. Several studies have suggested that the complement system is a key part of an early and robust immune response that confers host resistance to chytridiomycosis, but currently lacks an understanding of pathway activation (*Reviewed in* Rodriguez and Voyles, 2020). The complement response is a major contributor to the *in vitro* immune challenge classically employed in ecoimmulogical studies, known as bacterial killing ability (BKA) (Assis et al. 2013; Liebl and Martin II 2009; Matson, Tieleman, and Klasing 2006; Millet et al. 2007).

Physiological mediators associated with the stress and metabolic response as GCs have an immunomodulatory role (Bellavance and Rivest 2014; Dhabhar 2014). Different stressors such as unpredictable weather events (L Michael Romero and Wikelski 2010; L M Romero and Wikelski 2001), predation, or captivity can evoke a stress response and increase circulating GCs levels (Narayan et al. 2011; Assis et al. 2015). Increasing GCs circulating levels by a short time (acute stress response) usually has immunoenhancing effects, such as improve dendritic cell, neutrophil, macrophage, and lymphocyte trafficking, maturation, and function (Dhabhar and Mcewen 1999; Dhabhar 2009). Otherwise, the prolonged and sustained increase in circulating GCs levels associated with chronic stress response usually led to immunosuppressive effects, including altering the cytokine balance, accelerating immunosenescence, and suppressing immunity by decreasing numbers, trafficking, and function of protective immune cells while increasing regulatory/suppressor T cells (McEwen 2017; Padgett and Glaser 2003). Increased corticosterone (CORT) plasma levels, the main GCs in anurans, and altered plasma bacterial killing ability (BKA) occurs in response to stressors (e.g. restrictions of movements (Assis et al. 2015), dehydration levels (Barsotti et al. 2019), temperature (Moretti et al. 2019; Lima et al. 2020), and captivity (Narayan et al. 2011; Titon et al. 2017, 2019; Assis et al. 2015), as well as in response to CORT treatments, such as transdermal application (Assis et al. 2015; Wack, Lovern, and Woodley 2010) and silastic implants (Lamadrid in prep.). However, studies on the effects of GCs on AMPs production are scarce and showing opposed effects. While some studies suggest that pharmacological concentrations of corticosteroids inhibit the renewal and secretion of AMPs (Simmaco et al. 1997), others suggest that these conditions facilitate the renewal

of AMPs (Tatiersky et al. 2015). In consequence, even considering there are many studies on amphibian AMPs, their focus has been its chemical nature and immunological role (Huttner and Bevins 1999; Conlon 2011; König, Bininda-Emonds, and Shaw 2014; Colombo et al. 2015), their effect on pathogens as Bd (Holden et al. 2015; Pask, Woodhams, and Rollins-Smith 2012; Woodhams et al. 2010), and its bio-prospection as antibiotics (Muñoz-Camargo et al. 2016; Nacif-Marçal et al. 2015; Lamadrid-Feris et al. 2014), leaving a gap on the modulation exerted by the physiological state on AMPs.

Captivity is an especially relevant stressor in conservation studies since threatened species are often taken and held captive to avoid outbreaks of pathogens, habitat loss or to be reproduced *ex situ* for liberation and reintroduction goals (Becker et al. 2014; Hernández-Gómez, Briggler, and Williams 2019; Antwis et al. 2014; Zippel et al. 2011). However, moving animals keeping them outside their natural habitat can impair their immunity (Titon et al. 2019; Graham et al. 2012) and modify their microbiome (K. A. Bates et al. 2019; Antwis et al. 2014; Sabino-Pinto et al. 2016). At the microbiome level, ecological concepts such as resistance (insensitivity to disturbance), resilience (the rate of recovery after disturbance) (Shade et al. 2012) and redundancy (performs like original community) are used to explain the changes in the microbial communities composition caused by disturbances like captivity (Allison and Martiny 2008; Finlay, Maberly, and Cooper 1997). Then, a better approach to understand the ability of the amphibians to deal with emerging infectious diseases must include the study of the physiological state of the amphibian host, allowing to discern the direct consequences of physiological mediators levels on immunity and therefore on the microbiome of the skin.

Frogs of the suborder Neobatrachia are by far the most important source of AMPs and over ~1000 of these have been characterized (Z. Wang and Wang 2004; G. Wang 2020). Neotropical hylid frogs that belong to the subfamily Phyllomedusinae are an excellent

source of AMPs. Studies about *Phyllomedusa* skin secretions during the last five decades unveiled a combination of biologically active peptides (Erspamer et al. 1985; Azevedo Calderon et al. 2011; C. V. F. F. Batista et al. 2001) that show striking interspecific variation, possibly associated with differences in the species niche, interactions with environment, predators, and pathogens (Azevedo Calderon et al. 2011). All these characteristics make *Phyllomedusa* an interesting model to study the relationships between anuran physiological host state, innate immune function, and skin bacteriome. Frogs from this genus secrete various antimicrobial, hormonal, and neuroactive peptides (X. Xu and Lai 2015). In particular, the leaf tree-frog (*Phyllomedusa distincta*), endemic to the Brazilian Atlantic Forest, has at least two types of AMPs, dermaseptins, and distinctins. Both are effective antimicrobial agents against several Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (Nicolas, Vanhoye, and Amiche 2003; Roberto et al. 2008; C. V. . Batista et al. 2001; Brito de Assis et al. 2016). Here, we evaluated how captivity maintenance affects physiological state, immune function, and the structure of skin bacteriome, focusing especially on potentially beneficial bacteria. Specifically, our aims are to determine whether captivity (i) increases CORT plasma levels; (ii) impairs humoral innate immune parameters (plasma BKA and skin AMPs); (iii) reduces the presence and frequency of the potential beneficial bacteria anti-Bd and anti-Ah on skin bacteriome; and (iv) changes skin bacteriome structure of *P. distincta*.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Animal Habitat Environment

We collected eleven adult males of *Phyllomedusa distincta* in their natural zone of occurrence of the Brazilian Atlantic forest ecosystem (Castanho 1994; Bertoluci and Rodrigues 2002), at night, in the emergent vegetation of permanent ponds in the

forest, where the individuals usually remain in leaves and branches above the water. We carried out the fieldwork at Intervales Natural State Park, an Atlantic Forest reserve situated in the coastal mountains of SE Brazil (SP) (24 ° 12'-24 ° 25'S, 48 ° 03'-48 ° 30'W), and located between the municipalities of Iporanga, Ribeirão Grande, and Sete Barras, between 800 and 900m of altitude. We conducted fieldwork during the mating season (October - November) in summer (Bertoluci and Rodrigues 2002; Bertoluci and Trefaut 1991) the warmer and rainy season of the year. Specimens collection was under the authorization of IBAMA (SISBIO process 54354) and experimental procedures were under the approval of the Ethics Committee on the Use of Vertebrate Animals in Experimentation (protocol 259/2016 (Proc. 16.1.319.41.1)).

We brought the individuals to the vivarium of ectotherms in the Biosciences Institute, using clean individual containers previously sterilized [20L—43.0 (L) x 28.5 (W) x 26.5 (H) cm]. Each terrarium had clean artificial green leaves and branches, plastic containers of sterile water (200 ml), and Petri plates (90 x15 mm) with wet cotton to increase the humidity and water access. The lids of the containers had a plastic mesh to allow air circulation. Lighting conditions and the temperature kept constant (LD 13h [light turned on at 06:30 am] and 11h of dark [light turned off 07:30 pm] and $22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C). We fed the frogs two times a week at 15:00 to 17:00 with 6 - 8 nymph cockroaches. We kept the frogs in these conditions for seven days (habituation period) and subsequently for the 21 days of the experiment.

2.3.2 Sample Collection

To test the captivity effect on skin bacteriome communities and the selected innate immune parameters, we collected samples once in the field and four times in captivity conditions (Figure 1). The sampling occurred every seven days until complete 28 days in captivity conditions. We considered the first week in captivity the acclimation period. Thus, we call day zero (D0) the beginning of sampling in captivity, and day 21 the end of them. During fieldwork, we sampled 11 individuals, capturing five and carry them to the vivarium of ectotherms. The sampling protocol comprised four steps, (i) taking skin bacteriome samples using sterile swabs for each individual, swabbing five times the dorsum and ventral skin, (ii) getting blood samples by cardiac puncture, (iii) obtaining skin secretions samples by electrostimulation, and finally (iv) measuring the body mass (Mi) and linear body measure (Li) for each individual to calculate the scaled mass index (Mi) according to the equation:

$$\widehat{M}_{l} = \left[\frac{L_{0}}{L_{l}}\right]^{b_{SMA}}$$
(Eqn. 1.)

Where Mi and Li are the body mass and linear body measurement (snout-vent length) of individual respectively; bSMA is the scaling exponent estimated by the standardized major axis (SMA) regression of lnM on lnL; L_0 is an arbitrary value of L(e.g. the arithmetic mean value for the study population); and \widehat{Mi} is the predicted body mass for individual i when the linear body measure is standardized to L_0 (Peig and Green 2010).

2.3.2.1 Skin bacteriome sample collection

We captured individuals by hand and rinsed with 300 ml of sterile water during 10s. Rinsing the animal before swabbing is important to ensure that the sample primarily included skin-associated microorganisms and to remove the transient bacteria of the skin (Lauer et al. 2007, 2008). Following rinsing, we swabbed the frogs with sterile cotton-tipped swabs (Model 23007, ABSORVE, São Paulo, Brazil) for 30s in a rotating motion while applying minimum pressure. We collected two swabs, sampling by both dorsal and ventral regions 6 times. Immediately after collection, we diluted one sample swab in 1 ml sterile saline solution (NaCl, 0.9 %) and used to identification of potential beneficial morphotypes against *Aeromonas hydrophila*. We stored the other sample swab in a PowerSoil® Bead Tube, placed on liquid nitrogen, and moved to a -80 °C freezer. We use this last sample for the identification and analysis of the microbial community.

2.3.2.2 Potentially beneficial bacteria

We removed the bacteriome from swabs by vigorous vortex mixing. Then, we prepared serial dilutions in saline for inoculation on R2A medium (DIFCO), using standard aseptic techniques. We incubated the inoculated plates at room temperature for 48 hr. We obtained the isolated colonies using the streak plate technique. We classified the colonies according to morphological characteristics such as size, color, elevation, texture, opacity, and type of margin (results not shown). Finally, we selected one morphotype, which is a representative of a group of colonies that presented the same visual characteristics, and tested as potentially beneficial bacteria by antagonistic activity.

For screening of inhibitory effects against the opportunistic pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila* – IOC/FDA 110–36, we transferred each morphotype isolated transferred into tryptic soy broth, cultured at room temperature for 24 h, and then stored at -80°C after the addition of 20% glycerol. By a modified double-layer method previously described by Westerdahl et al. 1991; Maia et al. 2001, we created macrocolonies of the isolates on tryptic soy agar plates by inoculating 5 μ l droplets of 24 h culture. After incubation for 24 h at 30°C, we killed the colonies with ultraviolet light (60 min) and then we suspended 100 μ l of an overnight culture of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in tryptic soy broth soft agar which and poured over the plates (15 ml per plate). Again, we incubated the plates for

24 h at 30°C before the examination. We saw the inhibition of growth of the pathogen around and/or over the macrocolony as a clear zone.

We transferred a colony of each isolate identified as positive inhibitors by the test explained above to a 1.5-ml microcentrifuge tube with 20 µl of Milli-Q water. We amplified Bacterial 16S rDNA and sequenced using the bacterial 16S rDNA primers 27F and 1492R (Lane 1991). We purified the amplified fragments and sent to Macrogen Inc. (South Korea) for Sanger DNA sequencing. We aligned forward and reverse nucleotide sequences in Geneious Pro (Biomatters, Ltd.; Drummond et al., 2010) to create a consensus sequence of approximately 500 bp. We made the alignment by comparison with the sequences at the GenBank by a basic local alignment search tool (BLAST) analysis (Altschul et al. 1990) in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) databases. Following the alignment of sequences, we compiled a FASTA file containing a single representative of each unique consensus sequence and defined operational taxonomic units (OTUs) using qiime2 (v2019.10; (Bolyen et al. 2019)). We clustered the sequences at 99% similarity to create genus-level OTUs and assigned taxonomy using the Greengenes 13 8 reference database. Finally, we downloaded the sequences from the closely related species and aligned them through ClustalW using MEGA software (version 7.0) (Kumar et al. 2008)

2.3.2.3 Skin bacteriome

We performed the DNA extraction with the MoBio Power Soil Extraction kit (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA) using the standard MoBio protocol. We measured the concentration and purity of extracted gDNA using a NanoDrop[™]2000 Spectrophotometer and we stored at -20 °C until collected all the samples and then we sequenced together at the end of the sampling period. We compared the microbial species composition between individuals through the experimental time. Sequencing by Macrogen (Seoul, (Republic of Korea)) using the Illumina MiSeq system (Illumina), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.2.4 Collecting and processing blood samples

We collected blood samples in captivity (about 50 μ l) via cardiac puncture by using 1ml syringes and previously heparinized 26Gx1/2" needles. We only considered blood samples collected within 3 min from any disturbance for analyses, to avoid any influence of the stress of capture and manipulation on hormone levels (L Michael Romero and Reed 2005). We labeled the blood samples and kept them in ice for up to 10 minutes until centrifugation. We obtained the plasma samples (a range of 10–20 μ l) by centrifugation (4 min at 604g) and stored at -80°C for posterior hormone assays and BKA analyses.

2.3.2.5 Hormonal assay

We extracted plasma samples with ether according to Mendonça et al. 1996; Titon et al. 2019; Assis et al. 2015. Thereby, 3 ml of ether added to 10 μ l of each sample, and vortexed for 30 seconds, and centrifuged (4°C, 9 min, at 583 G). Next, the samples decanted in a -80°C freezer for 7min and we transferred the liquid phase to another tube. These tubes were kept in a laminar flow hood at room temperature (20 ± 2°C) until all the ether had evaporated (approximately 24h). Then, we resuspended the samples in EIA buffer and assayed CORT using EIA kits (number 500655, Cayman Chemical - AnnArbor, MI, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions and previous studies of (Assis et al. 2017; Titon et al. 2019). Intraassay variation (estimated from sample duplicates) and inter-assay variation (estimated from the average of four intermediate values from the standard curve, as recommended by the kit instructions), were 8,55% and 11.43%, respectively. The sensitivity of the assays, calculated as 80% B/B0 curve value, was 28,27 pg/mL.

2.3.2.6 Plasma Bacterial Killing Ability (BKA)

We performed BKA assays using an anuran opportunistic pathogen, the gramnegative bacteria Aeromonas hydrophila (IOC/FDA 110-36), following the protocol proposed to Escherichia coli by Assis et al. 2013, with the modifications for A. hydrophila proposed by Moretti et al. 2019. We resuspended a sample of stock cultured (bacteria + tryptic soy broth [TSB] + glycerol at -80 °C) in 5 mL sterile TSB and incubated overnight at 37 °C. Then, 24 h later, we measured bacterial concentration in a spectrophotometer (Spectra Max 250, at 595 nm). We performed serial dilutions in sterile amphibian Ringer solution to obtain a working concentration of 2.5×107 microorganisms x mL-1. As follows, we diluted plasma samples (1:20) in amphibian Ringer's solution (10 µL plasma:190 µL Ringer) and mixed them with 10-µL bacteria working solution (2.5 \times 105 microorganisms). Then, we incubated the samples and controls for one hour at 37° C. Positive controls comprised 10-µL bacteria working solution in 200 µL of Ringer's solution, and negative controls contained 210 µL of Ringer's solution. After the incubation period, we added 500-µL TSB to each sample. We thoroughly mixed bacterial suspensions and transferred 300 µL of each (in duplicate) to a 96well microplate. Then, we incubated the microplate at 37 °C for 1 h, and after that we measured the optical density of the samples hourly in a plate spectrophotometer (wavelength: 595 nm), for a total of four readings. We evaluated plasma BKA at the log-phase growth (bacterial exponential growth

phase) and calculated according to the formula: 1 - (optical density of sample/optical density of positive control), which represents the proportion of killed microorganisms in the samples compared to the positive control.

2.3.2.7 Cutaneous secretions

We collected skin secretions from each frog using a transcutaneous amphibian stimulator (TAS; Grant and Land, 2002), which applies a weak electric current to the skin, causing the secretion of the contents of their granular glands. We standardized the TAS treatment among frogs (Frequency: 50 Hz; Pulse width: 2 ms; Amplitude: 6 V; Time: 1–2 min). Next, we wash the frogs with 50 ml of Milli-Q water to collect the secretions, deposited them in a propylene tube, placed them on liquid nitrogen, lyophilized, and moved them to a -80 °C freezer. Untarget metabolomics strategies were applies to produce a skin secretions fingerprint (Bauermeister et al. 2017). The lyophilized material was diluted in a solution of 0.1% TFA in 50% acetonitrila/water to obtain a sample concentration of 5 mg.mL-1. These samples was mixed with α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid matrix diluted in the same solution in a 1:1 ratio. Then the samples were applied on a ground steel plate for MALDI (Bruker Daltonic, Bremen, Germany). Analyses were performed using a MALDI- TOF/TOF UltrafleXtreme (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany) system equipped with a smartbeam-II laser system controlled by a FleXcontrol v.3.3 (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany), employing AutoXecute mode. The samples were acquired by octuplicate in the automatic mode of analysis and all the spectra were recorded across a mass range of m/z 700-4000 and accumulate 500 shots per spectrum. A peptide calibration standard II (Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany) was used as the external calibration of the mass spectrometer. The average mass deviation was below 10

ppm. One of strategies for peptides identification is mass spectrometry by MALDI (Matrix-Assisted Laser Dissociation Ionization). In this work, the untargeted study was used to allow the evaluation of the metabolomic profile in the peptides specific mass/charge region (Gorrochategui et al. 2016; Vincenti et al. 2020). In addition, we can detect other signs such as glycoprotein and carbohydrates. Therefore, it proves to be important for comparative and qualitative studies between different samples.

2.3.2.8 Presence/Absence of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis

Additionally, to control and avoid the cross effects by skin pathogens we tested for the presence/absence of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis in all samples. We extracted DNA from skin swabs using the protocol developed by (Boyle et al. 2004), including the changes made by (Lambertini et al. 2013). Specifically, for each Eppendorf tube containing the swab, we added 50 µL of PrepMan[™] ULTRA Sample Preparation Reagent (Applied Biosystems® by Life Technologies, Warrington, UK). Then, we vortexed tubes for 45 s and centrifuged for 30 s at 12,000 rpm. We heated tubes in a boiling water bath for 10 min, cooled at room temperature for 2 min, and centrifuged again for 1 min at 12,000 rpm. We then inverted the swabs in the Eppendorf tube using sterile flanged tweezers (i.e., by applying a flame sterilization technique between samples) and centrifuged the tubes for 5 min at 12,000 rpm. Lastly, we discarded swabs, briefly centrifuged (for a few seconds) the tubes, then transferred approximately 45 μ L of solution to new tubes and stored them in a freezer at -2 Before performing real-time PCR reactions (qPCRs) to detect and quantify Bd infections, we diluted the extracted DNA in a 1:10 dilution (Lambertini et al. 2013). To prepare the qPCR reactions, we made a master mix, which is also based on the protocol developed by Boyle et al. (2004), and contains 1250 µL of Taqman Master Mix (Applied Biosystems®), 125 μL of primer **ITS1-3** Chytr (5'the CCTTGATATAATACAGTGTGCCATATGTC-3') at 18 µM, 125 µL of the primer 5.8S Chytr (5'-AGCCAAGAGATCCGTTGTCAAA-3') at 18 µM, 125f ChytrMGB2 probe (5'-6FAM CGAGTCGAACAAAAT MGBNFQ-3') at 5 µM, 275 µL of distilled water, and 100 µL of bovine serum albumin (BSA). To prepare the qPCR 96-well plate, we added 20 μ L of the mix to each well and 5 μ L of the extracted DNA dilution. We ran samples in singlicate. To make the standard curve, we used the Bd isolate CLFT 159, an isolate associated with a genotype from the Bd lineage GPL, from a frog of the genus Hylodes from the Atlantic Forest (e. g., Greenspan, et al. 2018). To make the standard curve, we diluted the Bd isolate to the concentrations 103, 102, 101, 100 and 10-1 zoospores and we ran the standards 103, 102, 101 in duplicates and the standards 100 and 10-1 in quadruplicates. We considered an individual infected (Bd+) when we detected at least one Bd genomic equivalent (≥ 1 g. e.; Kriger et al. 2007). We rounded g. e. values to integers. We calculated the intensity of infection by multiplying the values resulting from the qPCR by the dilution factor (1:10) used in the DNA extraction.

2.3.2.9 Bd-inhibitory bacterial database

Further, to determine if the bacteriome of *P. distincta* putatively inhibit, facilitate, or have no effect on Bd, we compared our OTUs to_Antifungal Isolates Database (Woodhams et al. 2015) using the vsearch cluster-features-closed-reference script (Rognes et al. 2016) to identify sequences with 99% match to bacterial isolates previously shown to inhibit Bd growth in culture by at least 80% compared to controls. They constructed the anti-Bd database from 1994 isolates

of bacteria cultured from the skin of amphibians from around the globe, including boreal toads, and tested against Bd in co-culture (Woodhams et al. 2015). The sequenced anti-Bd bacteria underwent closed reference OTU picking with the Greengenes 13 8 99% OTUs reference classifier.

2.3.3 Sequence and statistical analysis

We performed microbiome bioinformatics with Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME 2) version 2019.10 (Bolyen et al. 2019). We demultiplexed the raw sequence data and filtered by quality using the q2-demux plugin followed by denoising with DADA2 (Callahan et al., 2016) (via q2-dada2). We aligned all amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) with mafft (Katoh et al. 2002) (via q2-alignment) and used to construct a phylogeny with fasttree2 (Price, Dehal, and Arkin 2010) (via q2-phylogeny). We assigned the taxonomy to ASVs using the q2feature-classifier (Bokulich et al. 2018) classify-sklearn naïve Bayes taxonomy classifier against the Greengenes 13_8 at the standard 99% OTUs reference sequences (McDonald et al. 2012). We performed additional quality filtration on the OTU table by removing OTUs represented by fewer than 0.005% of the total read count (Bokulich et al. 2018), and to avoid including any OTUs generated by sequencer error, such as base miscalls or chimeras. We rarefied the OTU table to 53000 sequences per sample resulting in 2,577,573 reads clustered into 12,476 OUT, to standardize sequencing depth across all samples (N=25).

We transferred the rarefied OTU table and Newick phylogenetic tree to R (version 3.6.3). To evaluate alpha diversity, we calculated community richness (observed OTUs), evenness (Shannon diversity), and phylogenetic diversity (Faith's phylogenetic diversity) using the packages vegan (Oksanen et al. 2019) and picante (Kembel et al. 2010). We created a heat tree summarizing relative abundance main

results using Metacoder package in R software (Foster, Sharpton, and Grünwald 2017). Besides, we implemented the packages phyloseq (McMurdie and Holmes 2013), Vegan and Microbiome (Lahti and Shetty, n.d.) to calculate pairwise unweighted/weighted UniFrac distances and Bray-Curtis dissimilarities between samples. We chose to calculate these three measures of beta diversity as they account for phylogenetic presence/absence-based differences (unweighted UniFrac), phylogenetic abundance-based differences (Weighted UniFrac), and non-phylogenetic abundance-based differences (Bray-Curtis) among samples.

We evaluated the effect of captivity on richness, phylogenetic-based, and evenness measures of alpha diversity (OTU richness, Faith's phylogenetic diversity, and Shannon index) using generalized linear models with the lme4 package (D. Bates et al. 2015). We assessed differences in community composition among the time of sampling using analysis of composition of microbiomes (ANCOM) through the package Compositions (van den Boogaart, Tolosana-Delgado, and Bren 2020). To characterize the strength and significance of differentiation among field and captivity samples, we implemented a two-way PERMANOVA test with interaction term using all three beta diversity metrics. We generated NMDS plots using weighted UniFrac, unweighted UniFrac, and Bray-Curtis dissimilarities to visualize the clustering of samples by the time of sampling. Finally, we estimated the bacterial core community through the microbiome package. We defined the core community in our study as selection of ASVs with a relative abundance of at least 0.1% and present in more than 95% of tested samples. We used the method of double principal coordinate analysis or (DPCoA), since it jointly analyzes the differences between species and the distribution of species between communities, generating an assembly of multidimensional space that correlates species with communities (Pavoine, Dufour, and Chessel 2004; Purdom 2011; Fukuyama et al. 2012).

We submitted data on physiological parameters to descriptive statistics and tests of normality (Shapiro-Wilk test). To test if captivity time affected CORT plasma levels, \widehat{Mt} , plasma BKA and ionic profiles of skin secretions throughout time, we analyzed the data by fitting a mixed-model analysis of repeated measures data. This mixed model uses a compound symmetry covariance matrix, fitted by Restricted Maximum Likelihood (REML). Considering that we did not assume sphericity because our design is of repeated measures in time, we used the correction of Geisser-Greenhouse as proposed by Maxwell & Delaney, (2013). We also performed multiple comparisons tests using Bonferroni correction to compare values within each treatment by time of sampling. We performed all statistical analyses in R version 4.0.2 (2020-06-22) -- unless otherwise noted. All values showed in this research correspond to the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and values in the graphs to mean \pm standard error (SEM).

2.4 Results

Captivity did not affect CORT plasma levels or \widehat{Mt} (Table 2.1 and 2.2) but influenced immune variables (Table 2.2). The BKA showed no differences between day 0 to 14 in captivity, and decreased significantly on day 21 (Table 2.1, 2.2, Figure 2.2B). The total number of ions (m/z) from each individual's skin secretions increased from the field sample until day 7 in captivity and then decreased significantly until day 21 (Table 1, Figure 2D). The signals profiles from skin secretions from field to captivity samples were clearly different (Figure 3B). In Figure 3C is shown the 489 identified signals from skin secretion, among them, 106 were uniquely exhibited in the field samples. The total number of ions (m/z) from each individual skin secretions increased from the field sample until day 7 in captivity and then decreased significantly until day 21 (Table 2.1, Figure 2.2D). The signals profiles from skin secretions from field to captivity samples were clearly different (Figure 2.3B). In Figure 2.3C is shown the 489 identified signals from skin secretion, among them, 106 were uniquely exhibited in the field samples.

We found 48 phyla and 237 families compounding the skin bacteriome of *P*. *disctincta* (Figure 2.4A). Regarding the phyla identified, the most dominant were Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Acidobacteria and Actinobacteria. Of these four phyla, Regarding the 48 phyla identified, Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes were more dominant in captivity, while Acidobacteria and Actinobacteria were more dominant in the field (Figure 2.4B, and 2.5). Our results showed that all the classes were more abundant in the field than in captive conditions (Figure 2.4A). The alpha diversity indexes showed field samples as significantly more diverse than captivity samples (Figure 2.5 and 2.6A, Table 2.2). Only with the Simpson index the alpha diversity was significantly different between days (Table 2.2).

Frogs harbored significantly different bacterial communities in the field and in captivity (PERMANOVA for all time of samplings: Table 2.3, Figure 2.6C). Richness of the skin bacteriome declined over time in captivity (Figure 2.6C). The beta diversity analysis did not show clear clustering among the different bacterial communities; however, some trends are worth noticing. Figure 2.6 shows field communities more similar to captivity samples of day 21 and distant from captivity samples of 0, 7, and 14 days. The distribution of captivity samples on day 0 was the more dispersed in the plot, indicating higher variation within this day. Beta-diversity analysis showed that time of sampling (Table 2.3) was a significant predictor of the variation in bacterial community composition. Analysis of Composition of Microbes (ANCOM) (Mandal et al. 2015)

revealed three genera with significant differential abundance across sampling time. All the three genera belonged to the phylum Proteobacteria, *Sphingomonas* (W = 22.24, ANCOM BC, p < 0.001) and *Beijerinckia* (W = 14.65, ANCOM BC, p < 0.001) were more abundant in field samples, and *Delftia* (W= -10.54, ANCOM BC, p < 0.001) was more abundant in captivity samples (Figure2. 4A and Figure 2.5). The bacterial core community, defined as ASVs with relative abundance of at least 0.1% and present in 95% of samples or more, comprised 30 ASVs, classified into 10 different bacterial genera (Figure 2.7). The two most prevalent core ASVs corresponded to the genus *Propionibacterium* and *Rhodococcus*. Ten genera constituted the core skin bacteriome of *P. distincta* individuals, with Pseudomonaceae, Alcaligenaceae, and Nocardiaceae as the more prevalent families (Figure 2.7).

We found 45 morphotypes of potentially beneficial bacteria isolated by culture against *Aeromonas hydrophila* (Anti-Ah) from 257 morphotypes obtained from all sampling times (Table 4). The potential beneficial bacteria anti-Ah were identified as belonging to two phyla (Proteobacteria and Firmicutes), nine genera, and 37 species (Figure 2.8, Table 2.4). 40,5% of the isolates belong to the genus *Pseudomonas*, followed by the genus *Delftia*, with 16,21% (Figure 2.9). The Firmicutes phylum was represented by only two genera: *Paenibacillus* and *Staphylococcus*. All the potential beneficial bacteria bacteria Anti-Ah identified showed lower abundance in samples from the field (Figure 2.8). Field samples showed only four genera of the potential beneficial bacteria Anti-Ah, three of them from phylum Proteobacteria, and only one from phylum Firmicutes. The genus *Paeinibacillus* was exclusively present in the field samples, albeit the 66.6% of the genus identified were exclusively present in captivity samples (Figure 2.9). The genus *Acinetobacter, Enterobacter*, and *Staphylococcus* appeared by the end of

the time in captivity, with *Staphylococcus* increasing its abundance almost twofold from day 14 to 21 (Figure 9B).

We evaluated the abundance of putative B. dendrobatidis-inhibitory bacteria (Anti-Bd) in all the samples from each sampling time and found significant differences between samples from field and captivity (Figure 2.10). We putatively identified 24 genera and 29 species in the Bd database (Woodhams et al. 2015). From the total OTUs putatively identified, we identified four phyla (Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Firmicutes, and Bacteroidetes) considered as Anti-Bd OTUs in the database (Woodhams et al. 2015). We identified ten genera, and we identified only six OTUs until species level. The species detected were Brevibacterium aureum, Elizabethkingia meningoseptica, Microbacterium chocolatum, Pseudomonas alcaligenes, Erwinia dispersa and Serratia marcescens (Figure 10A, Figure 12). All the putatively anti-Bd bacteria identified showed lower abundance in samples of field conditions (Figure 10B). The species Brevibacterium aureum and Pseudomonas alcaligenes were present throughout all the time of sampling. Although, Elizabethkingia meningoseptica appeared only in field samples, Erwinia dispersa in field and day 0 samples, and Serratia marcescens only in captivity samples. Pseudomonas, Acinetobacter, and Delftia were genera present in the core bacteriome and belong to the potential beneficial bacteria group anti-Ah and Anti-Bd (Figure 9B, 10B).

Finally, we assessed all individuals for Bd presence, and six individuals were positive. We sampled and included an individual with the higher zoospore load (464.2 zoospores) in the field, but it was not brought to captivity. Other five individuals showed really low scores (2 - 3.9 zoospores) of Bd zoospores loads at least one day of sampling in captivity but were negative for the rest of the time because of that we decided included in our results (Table S1).

Variables	Time of Sampling (Day)	Ν	Mean	±SD
CORT (ng/µl)	Field			
	0	2	1,12	1,30
	7	3	2,49	1,03
	14	4	6,60	10,12
	21	3	0,78	0,76
BKA (%)	Field			
	0	2	-1,01	0,45
	7	2	-0,72	0,13
	14	4	-1,25	0,62
	21	2	-6,66	4,57
Skin Ionic Signals Richness	Field	5	74,00	15,52
	0	2	79,50	3,54
	7	2	103,50	4,95
	14	3	91,67	16,20
	21	2	91,00	8,49
Âι	Field	6	11,12	5,23
	0	6	10,47	3,57
	7	6	8,42	5,34
	14	6	8,17	4,94
	21	6	11,48	4,99

Table 2.1. Descriptive statistics of plasma corticosterone levels, plasma BKA and skin ionic signals richness analyzed in field and captivity conditions with *Phyllomedusa distincta* individuals.
Table 2.2. Linear mixed model results for alpha diversity indexes values (Chao1, Simpson, and Shannon) of skin microbiota of *Phyllomedusa distincta* control group. The times of sampling were: Field = when individuals collected, and Day 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity condition.

		Shannon			Simpson			Chao1	
Predictors	Estimates	Conf. Int (95%)	P-Value	Estimates	Conf. Int (95%)	P-Value	Estimates	Conf. Int (95%)	P-Value
(Intercept)	2.71	1.53 - 3.89	<0.001***	0.82	0.76 - 0.88	<0.001***	449.01	-144.23 - 1042.25	0.138
Day 14	0.96	-0.60 - 2.52	0.226	0.11	0.03 - 0.19	0.006**	124.32	-209.49 - 458.13	0.465
Day 21	0.81	-0.75 - 2.37	0.310	0.09	0.02 - 0.17	0.019**	101.49	-232.31 - 435.30	0.551
Day 7	1.10	-0.57 - 2.77	0.196	0.12	0.04 - 0.21	0.004**	106.55	-259.14 - 472.24	0.568
Field	2.95	1.62 - 4.28	<0.001***	0.15	0.08 - 0.22	<0.001***	691.09	330.51 - 1051.68	<0.001***
Random Effects									
σ^2			1.09			0.00			47933.08
$ au_{00}$			0.00 Individuo			0.00 Individuo	uo 775680.59 Ind		80.59 Individuo
ICC						0.11			0.94
Ν			12 Individuo			12 Individuo			12 Individuo
Observations			25			25			25
Marginal R^2 / Conditional R^2			0.552 / NA		C	0.426 / 0.490		(0.103 / 0.948

*p<0.05 **p<0.01 ***p<0.001

Table 2.3. PERMANOVA results for the beta diversity analysis of skin bacteriome ofPhyllomedusa distincta using unweighted and weighted UniFrac distances.Asterisksrepresent significant differences (* p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01 *** p < 0.001).

	Unweighted UniFrac				Weighted UniFrac						
	Df	Sums Of Sqs	Mean Sqs	F.Model	R2	Pr(>F)	Sums Of Sqs	Mea n Sqs	F.Mode l	R2	Pr(>F)
Time of Sampling	4	0,012	0,003		0,33	0.03*	0,012	0,003	2,463	0,33	0,03*
Residual s	20	0,024	0,001	NA	0,67	NA	0,024	0,001	NA	0,67	NA
Total	24	0,036	NA	NA	1	NA	0,036	NA	NA	1	NA
Pairwise	Compar	isons									
	Grou	Sampl	pseudo		q-						
Group 1	p 2	e size	-F	p-value	value						
0 1	14	14 7	1.218	0.165	0.27	-					
					5						
0	21	7	1.551	0.104	0.20						
					8						
0	7	7	1.232	0.218	0.31						
0	Field	12	2 077	0 002**	1						
0	Tielu	15	2.977	0.005	0.01						
14	21	8	0.953	0.526	0.58						
14	Field	14	2 309	0 002**	T 0.01						
17	1 Iciu	14	2.507	0.002	0.01						
21	Field	14	2.253	*	0.01						
7	14	8	0.781	1.0	1.0						
					0.58						
7	21	8	0.929	0.502	4						
-	D' 1 '	14	1.866	0.005*	0.01						
7	Field				2						

				· ·	<i>a</i>	G
Morphot		Top-hit		Accession	Ge	Spe
ype ID	GreenGenes ID	strain	Genbank ID	Number	nus	cies
	Pseudomonas	NBRC	Pseudomonas sp. strain			
CO-10	monteilii	103158	LINI	KY922972	+	-
		NCTC	Acinetobacter sp. strain	MH915643		
CO-11	Acinetobacter lwoffii	5866	OE	.1	+	-
				MK332301		
CO-14	Delftia acidovorans	2167	Delftia sp. strain JY-49 Pseudomonas	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		plecoglossicida strain	CP031146.		
CO-15	hunanensis	LV	XSDHY-P	1	+	-
0010		2.		HE662648		
CO-18	Delftia acidovorans	2167	Delftia sp. S17	1	+	-
00 10	Paenihacillus	BCRC	Degna sp. 517	кт965177		
CO-26	taichungensis	17757	Paenibacillus sp. F12	1	+	_
0-20	Futerohacter		Vokanalla raganshurgai	1		
CO 30	cancerogenus	33241	strain 11 18	MH074808	_	_
0-39	Value	552 4 1	Strutt A4-10 Vokonalla noronakungai	MI1074000		
D14.02	Токепеца	AICC 40455	Tokenella regensburgel	MH0/4808	+	+
D14-02	regensburgei	49455	strain A4-18	.1	I	I
	~	~ ~	Serratia marcescens strain	MH251251	1	
D14-25	Serratia quinivorans	CP6a	ZCL-01	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas protegens	MK235212		
D14-29	protegens	CHA0	strain Exi5-13	.1	+	+
		NBRC	Delftia tsuruhatensis strain	MK336721		
D14-30	Delftia tsuruhatensis	16741	AD4	.1	+	+
			Paenibacillus sp. strain	MK005262		
D14-36	Paenibacillus LAZU s	DMB20	CCOS10	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp. strain	MK373708		
D14-52	protegens	CHA0	RL17-340-BIF-B	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas protegens	MK402059		
D21-04	nrotegens	CHA0	strain KPS-50	1	+	+
521 01	Yokenella	ATCC	Yokenella regenshurgei	MH074808		
D21-05	regenshurgei	49455	strain 44-18	1	+	+
D21-03	Sorratia marcoscons	ATCC	Servatia marcoscons strain	.1 MF280125		
D21.06	subsp. marcascans	13880	Tii550	1	+	+
D21-00	Subsp. marcescens	13000	Decudomonae protocone	.1 MV 225212		'
D21 16	Pseudomonas	CIIAO	Pseudomonas prolegens	MK233212	+	+
D21-16	protegens	CHA0	strain Exi5-13	.1	I	I
D2 1 10	Enterobacter	000(1	Serratia sp. strain	MK156446		
D21-18	siamensis	C2361	BR13856	.1	-	-
	Serratia marcescens	ATCC		LC439479.		
D21-30	subsp. marcescens	13880	Serratia sp. CR1-2	1	+	-
				MK332301		
D7-02	Delftia acidovorans	2167	Delftia sp. strain JY-49	.1	+	-
	Paenibacillus	DSM	Paenibacillus	MH734924		
D7-13	glucanolyticus	5162	glucanolyticus strain B05	.1	+	+
	Staphylococcus		Staphylococcus sp. strain	MK358977		
D7-26	argensis	M4S-6	SW11	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas protegens	MK402059		
D7-28	protegens	CHA0	strain KPS-50	.1	+	+
	Enterobacteriaceae	SSMD0	Enterobacteriaceae	MH074838		
D7-49	CP009451 s	4	bacterium strain T4-4-1	.1	+	-
2,17	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp strain	MK373708		
D7-52	protegens	CHA0	<i>RL17-340-BIF-B</i>	.1	+	-

Table 2.4. Species of potentially beneficial bacteria identified in skin microbiota of *Phyllomedusa distincta* using a molecular marker for the 16S ribosomal gene.

		DSM	Staphylococcus sp. strain	MK358977		
D7-54	Staphylococcus sciuri	20345	SWII	.1	+	-
	T J			MK459473		
D7-55	Delftia acidovorans	2167	Delftia sp. strain TC10	1	-	+
D / 33	Pseudomonas	2107	Pseudomonas janonica	.т MH712955		
DO 01	DHTD a	112	stuain CH 26	1	-	_
DO-01	Davidamanaa	33.2	Draudamanagan atugin	.1 MC(74220		
DO 02	Fseudomonas	CIIAO	r seudomonas sp. strain	1	+	+
DO-02	protegens	CHA0	MK29	.1	I	'
DO 11	a	CD (Uncultured bacterium	LC409838.		
DO-11	Serratia quinivorans	CP6a	OreMos_Food_304	1	-	-
	Klebsiella			KT260783.		
DO-16	michiganensis	W14	Klebsiella sp. RCB571	1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp. strain	MG674323		
DO-19	protegens	CHA0	MR39	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp.	KC012911.		
DO-22	protegens	CHA0	SCAU611	1	+	-
			Uncultured Serratia sp.	KJ804058.		
DO-23	Serratia mvotis	12	clone K-98-13-8	1	+	-
	2		Uncultured bacterium	LC409842.		
DO-24	Serratia CP015613 s	PRI-2c	OreMos Food 308	1	-	-
			Delftia acidovorans strain	MG576174		
DO-25	Delftia acidovorans	2167	KBL21	1	+	+
00 20	Pseudomonas	2107	Pseudomonas protegens	MK402059		
DO-26	nrotegens	CHA0	strain KPS-50	1	+	+
DO 20	protegens		Uncultured Pseudomonas	.1 KX456361		
DO 28	Psaudomonas asplanii	73835	sn clone V107	1	+	_
DO-28	Pseudomonas aspienii	23833	<i>Psaudomonas</i> sp. stuain	.1 MC674220		
DO 20	r seudomonas	CIIAO	1 seudomonas sp. strain	1	+	_
DO-29	prolegens	CHA0	MR29	.1 MIZ222201	1	_
DO 20	D_{10} · · · ·	01(7		MIK332301	+	
DO-30	Deijtia aciaovorans	2107	Deijtia sp. strain J1-49	.1 VM117001	I	-
DO 11	Pseudomonas	GILLO	Pseudomonas sp.	KM11/221		
DO-31	protegens	CHA0	\$18(2014)	.1	Т	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp. strain	MG6/4320		
DO-43	protegens	CHA0	MR29	.1	+	-
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp. strain	MK373708		
DO-55	protegens	CHA0	<i>RL17-340-BIF-B</i>	.1	+	-
			Pseudomonas protegens	MK402059		
DO-56	Pseudomonas sesami	SI-P133	strain KPS-50	.1	+	+
	Pseudomonas		Pseudomonas sp. strain	MG674320		
DO-59	protegens	CHA0	MR29	.1	+	-

(-) Taxa ID different in both two databases, (+) same taxa ID assigned in both databases.



Figure 2.1: Scheme showing the time of sampling, type of samples obtained and duration of study. Blood samples were obtained by cardiac puncture (\heartsuit), skin bacteriome by swabs () and cutaneous secretions by electrostimulation (\checkmark).



Figure 2.2: Physiological and immunological parameters measured in field and captivity conditions of *Phyllomedusa distincta* individuals. (A) Corticosterone plasma levels, (B) (C) BKA values were measured only in captivity. (D) MALDI-TOF MS corresponding to the mean of number of identified signals in each sampling time. The X-axis represent the sampling time from day 0 to 21 in captivity conditions.



Figure 2.3: Mass spectrometry signals from skin secretions of *Phyllomedusa distincta* in field and captivity conditions. (A) A representative MALDI-TOF MS spectrum from skin secretion in field conditions. (B) Principal coordinates analysis of k-means distances between samples of skin ions (m/z). (C) Grouping polygon based on the similarity between samples, called Venn diagram, showing the number of shared signals between all analyzed samples



Figure 2.4: Abundance of taxa identified in the skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta* in field and captivity conditions. (A)Bars shows the reads count of each Phylum identified in field (green) and captivity conditions (orange). (B) Heat-tree of the abundances of Phylum identified. The color of each taxon represents the log-2 ratio of difference between field (green) and captivity (purple) conditions, and the size of nodes represents the number of observations (n_obs). The lineages with more than 500 observations are marked with a bigger font size.



Figure2.5: Differential heat tree matrix depicting the change in taxa abundance through the different times of sampling, for skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta*. The gray tree on the lower left shows the names of the taxa. The color of each taxon represents the log-2 ratio of median proportions of reads observed at each time of sampling. Only significant differences are colored, determined using a Wilcox rank-sum test followed by a Benjamini-Hochberg (FDR) correction for multiple comparisons. Green taxa are more abundant in the day shown in the row and those colored brown for the day shown in the column.



Figure 2.6: Alpha and beta diversity of skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta* **individuals through time of sampling**. (A) Shannon-Weiner index values by time of sampling. (B)Double principal coordinates analysis (DPCoA) using Bray Curtis distances between time of sampling.



Figure 2.7: Heat-map diagram of the core skin bacteriome composition at genus level for *Phyllomedusa distincta* throughout the time of sampling.



Figure 2.8: The most abundant potential beneficial bacteria anti-*Aeromonas hydrophyla.* (A) Phyla and (B) the families in skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta* throughout the time of samplings. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity



Figure 2.9: Genera of potentially beneficial bacteria anti-*Aeromonas hydrophyla* isolated and identified on skin bacteriome of *Phyllomedusa distincta*. (A) **Phylogenetic tree of genera identified.** The color key shows each genus identified, and the shapes represents the time of sampling. The point size represents abundance in each sample on a log scale. (B) Abundance of genera throughout the time of experiment. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity.





(A)Phylogenetic tree of genera identified. The color key shows the Bd-inhibition category according to the database of (Woodhams et al. 2015), and the shapes represents the time of sampling. (B) Abundance of each OTU throughout the time of experiment. The x-axis shows the times of sampling: Field =capture moment; and 0, 7, 14, and 21= days in captivity.

2.5 Discussion

We evaluated the effect of captivity on plasma BKA and skin ionic profile as innate immune parameters, the bacteriome structure of the skin, especially the presence of potentially beneficial members as pathogen inhibitors, and its relationship with plasma levels of CORT, and $\widehat{M}\iota$ as an indicator of the physiological status of *Phyllomedusa distincta*. Innate immunity parameters measured shifted with captivity time, and clear differences in α -diversity and community composition were present between wild and captive individuals. Further, the potentially beneficial bacteria anti-Ah and anti-Bd increased with time in captivity.

Captivity effects on physiological state and innate immune parameters

Against our predictions, CORT plasma levels and \widehat{Mt} did not differ in the individuals of *P. distincta* between wild and captive conditions. Thus, time in captivity did not affect the selected physiological state indicators. Classically, the stress response in vertebrates is related to increased activity of the hypothalamus-hypophysis-adrenal/interrenal axis and augmented CORT plasma levels (Dhabhar and Mcewen 1999). Studies associated captivity with transiently increased CORT levels (after 5 - 15 days in captivity), backing to baseline levels after 25 days (Narayan et al. 2011). Against our predictions, captivity did not increase CORT plasma levels neither decrease \widehat{Mt} in *P. distincta*. However, captivity shifted parameters of innate immunity. Other studies with anurans found that T was positively associated with immune parameters (Assis et al. 2017; Titon et al. 2017) and the drop in plasma T concentration was accompanied by a drop in immunocompetence with the time of captivity (Narayan, Cockrem, and Hero 2013; Marler and Ryan 1996). For that reason, we suggest measuring in future additional physiological mediators as testosterone levels.

In several vertebrates, including amphibians, stressors can change the immune parameters, taking hours to days for a full response (Webster et al., 2002; Falso et al., 2015; Fischer and Romero, 2019). Previous studies reported that BKA may respond preponderantly to captivity as a stressor in Rhinella icterica (Assis et al. 2015; Titon et al. 2019). After 21 days of captivity, BKA of P. distincta decreased significantly without apparent changes on CORT plasma levels. Considering that we used plasma rather than whole blood samples for BKA, most of the observed inhibition of growth of Ah might be associated with complement system action (Mayilyan et al. 2008; Janeway et al. 2001). Many distinct plasma proteins constitute the complement system, comprising three different pathways of activation and mechanisms of action (Janeway et al. 2001). First, generating many large activated complement proteins that bind covalently to pathogens, opsonizing them for engulfment by phagocytes. Second, through chemoattraction recruiting more phagocytes to the site of complement activation, and activating these phagocytes. Third, by creating pores in the bacterial membrane using terminal complement components (Janeway 2001). The complement system also provides, through opsonization, an important link between the two branches of the immune system, innate and the adaptive response (Murphy et al. 2010; Rodriguez and Voyles 2020). Considering that a limitation in the complement function may severely constraint the development of a robust and effective immune protection against pathogens and disease (Rodriguez and Voyles 2020), we suggest than captivity has relevant immune consequences for P. distincta. Nonspecific defenses as complement activation, may be key to resisting infection and protecting against lethal diseases, such as chytridiomycosis (Rodriguez and Voyles 2020; Grogan et al. 2018).

Similarly, captivity affected the innate immune response of the skin shifting the secretions ionic profiles and the richness of signals. Against our predictions, we identified

transiently increased signals by individuals in captivity than in field conditions. However, the skin ionic profiles of field samples were less diverse than in captivity. Corticosteroids under pharmacological concentrations facilitate the renewal of skin peptides in frogs according to previous studies (Tatiersky et al. 2015). Although we applied the same protocol of repeated maximal induction of peptide secretions used by Tatiersky et al. (2015), we did not include experimentally increased CORT plasma levels in *P. distincta*. However, we need to consider that the intense and repeated manipulation might have increased catecholamines and, possibly CORT, sporadically (L Michael Romero and Reed 2005). So, it is possible that transient endocrine changes occurred in response to manipulation, and we did not detect them since we always acquired blood samples before inducing the skin secretions. In this way, it is possible that cells producing peptides in the granular glands would not develop mRNAs for defensive peptides, precluding recovery of peptide profile found in the field conditions. Previous studies have found decreased BKA associated with increased CORT when anurans loose body mass throughout time in captivity (Titon et al. 2017). Contrary to those studies, P. distincta did not increase CORT, neither decrease body condition under captivity. In this way, the observed shifted of innate immunity (skin ionic profiles and plasma BKA) seems not to be derived from energetic limitations. Previous studies reported that exposure to pathogens resulted in increased synthesis of AMPs in Rana esculenta and Bombina orientalis (Simmaco et al. 1998; Mangoni et al. 2001). After gland depletion induced by electrostimulation, frogs maintained in a sterile environment failed to restore AMPs whereas those exposed to microorganisms did (Simmaco et al. 1998; Mangoni et al. 2001). Additionally, the host skin defense peptides possess a differential effect on their own microbiota promoting their growth or impeding colonization from non-native bacteria (Flechas et al. 2019). Thus, we suggest that the transiently increased signals detected in the skin ionic profiles was related

with the reshaped skin bacteriome, considering that more than the half of genera of potentially beneficial bacteria anti-Ah and Anti-Bd were detected only in captivity samples. The new bacterial colonization and the repeatedly skin gland depletion must be induced that changes.

Captivity effects on skin bacteriome

Studies have shown that the recovery to a pre-disturbance state, resilience, may be a key component in disease resistance (Weeks, Parris, and Brown 2020; Rebollar et al. 2016). Testing for resilience of the host microbial community may allow researchers to better predict which populations are susceptible to emerging diseases like chytridiomycosis (Weeks, Parris, and Brown 2020; Shade et al. 2012). For instance, the cutaneous microbiome of Lithobates sphenocephalus recovered after two biotic disturbances without inputs from environmental reservoirs, suggesting that the core community is able to remain with the animal (Weeks, Parris, and Brown 2020). Shortterm exposure to an abiotic disruptor had also little impact on the skin microbiome of adult spring peepers (Pseudacris crucifer) (Hughey et al. 2016). In our study, transferring individuals into captivity conditions changed the structure of skin bacteriome communities according to our predictions. Interestingly, P. distincta skin bacteriome communities in the field were more similar in structure to those in the last time point sampling in captivity (day 21), than to the first time point sampling in captivity (day 0). This suggests that captivity is a disruptor of skin bacteriome communities and these communities seem to be resilient because they recover and tend to resemble a predisturbance (captivity) state (Figure 6B, 6C). In this sense, the greatest remodeling in the cutaneous bacteriome of *P. distincta* occurred at the beginning of captivity maintenance. After 7 days of being brought from the field, the number of genera composing the skin bacteriome decreased. Azospirillum, Bacteroides, Beijerinckia, Brevundimonas.

Comamonas. Delftia, *Elizabethkingia*, Flavobacterium. Massilia. Methylobacterium, Mycobacterium, and Nocardioides disappeared in samples from day 0. The genus Beijerinckia was abundant in the field and was absent on captivity samples, which suggest it as a lineage that might be sensitive to disruptions caused by both the physiological state of the host and environmental changes. Beijerinckia is commonly found as free-living bacteria in acidic soils, in plant rhizosphere and phyllosphere environments (Marín and Arahal 2014; Becking 2006). Many insights into the ecology of Beijerinckia come from research on biological nitrogen fixation in graminaceous plants in Brazil (Marín and Arahal, 2014). Although Beijerinckia has also been described as part of the skin microbiota of the Puerto Rican frog (Eleutherodactylus coqui) (Hughey et al. 2017), its physiological role in the community is not clear. This is probably associated to the fact that antibiotic potential has been the major driver of the studies with skin frog microbiota, and that characteristic has been not described for Beijerinckia. In contrast, Sphingomonas was more abundant in samples collected under captive conditions than in the field. Several indicators OTUs in the genus Sphingomonas were associated with Bd associated dying toads (Atelopus zeteki), suggesting that Sphingomonas suppresses the production of antimicrobial compounds produced by symbiotic bacteria (Becker et al. 2015), as observed in tomato plants (Someya and Akutsu 2009). This genus of aerobic and Gram-negative bacteria was also identified as Bd enhancer in studies conducted with four amphibian species (Walke et al. 2017). The genus Delftia also increased its abundance in captivity samples, but members of this genus have been shown to inhibit the growth of Bd fungus (Cikanek et al. 2014) and Enterobacter aerogene bacteria (B. Assis et al. 2020). Sphingomonas and Delftia were part of the core community and the most abundant genera in field samples from the individuals of P. distincta studied. Loudon et al. (2014) hypothesized that the core bacteria is tightly linked with immune

regulation, immune evasion, and the activation or deactivation of the host-defense pathways. It has been also suggested captivity remodeling of skin microbiome could decrease the immune ability of the host (Hernández-Gómez, Briggler, and Williams 2019). We hypothesize that as captive animals lose some genus of beneficial bacteria (e.g. *Paenibacillus*), there may be an increased recruitment and proliferation of other microbial members (e.g., *Delftia* and *Pseudomonas*), perhaps as an alternative mechanism to reduce skin dysbiosis and promote host health. Overall, our study provides many leads for important future work.

Remarkably, the identification of most potential beneficial bacteria anti-Ah and anti-Bd occurred in captivity conditions. Specifically, Pseudomonas genus was dominant, belonging to the core community, and prevalent throughout time evaluated. This genus is an ecologically diverse group, composed by common environmental bacteria, known pathogens, and commensals, found on the skin of amphibians (Woodhams et al. 2007), fishes (Boutin et al. 2013), mammals (Cogen, Nizet, and Gallo 2008) and plantae (Berendsen, Pieterse, and Bakker 2012) with high relative abundances (Roth et al. 2013), as seen in our study. Agriculture commonly uses Pseudomonas species in biological control of plagues and diseases (Philippot et al. 2013), and as antifungal for amphibians in the laboratory (Flechas et al. 2012; Madison et al. 2017). Isolates of Pseudomonas from Rana cascadae showed no anti-Bd activity (Roth et al. 2013), and Pseudomonas declined abundance with Bd infection in the R. sierrae (Jani and Briggs 2014). However, Pseudomonas isolates from P. distincta showed in vitro anti-Ah activity and putative anti-Bd functions, suggesting that even with the reshaping of skin bacteriome caused by captivity, this genus is suitable as probiotic useful in bioaugmentation. Locally occurring protective bacteria on amphibians has effectively mitigated emerging infectious diseases

like Chytridiomycosis in laboratory trials and field trials through bioaugmentation (Bletz et al. 2013; Woodhams et al. 2016).

Firmicutes phylum was represented by two genera, Paenibacillus and Staphyloccocus. Isolated from a wide range of sources, including organisms and environments, the genus Paenibacillus is useful in different areas because of its production of antimicrobial compounds, but with some pathogenic species to honeybees, other invertebrates and occasionally opportunistic infections to humans (Grady et al. 2016). Isolates of *Paenibacillus* from eggs and skin of salamanders showed antifungal activity (Lauer et al. 2008; Harris et al. 2006). One of the main ecological niches of Paenibacillus is soils (Madigan, Martinko, and Parker 2004) and it is frequent found in environments such as Brazilian natural forests (Bruce et al. 2010). In our study, we identified Paenibacillus as anti-Ah bacteria, and it was present only in field samples. According to that, we considered Atlantic Forest as the source of this genus of bacteria for the P. distincta individuals. Since this genus disappeared in captivity conditions, it was not part of the core community, highlighting the relevance of environmental sources of potentially beneficial bacteria in the protective role of the skin bacteriome. Similar protocol of maintenance and housing conditions used in our study is used for anurans in experimental research and ex situ conservation programs (Michaels, Gini, and Preziosi 2014). Considering the resilience tendency of skin bacteriome evidenced here, we recommend than ex situ conservation programs and experimental researches, to consider the physiological state of the anuran species of interest in field and captivity conditions because it was clear the dynamism of immune parameters and the reshaping and succession process on skin bacteriome.

2.6 Conclusions

Captivity conditions did not increase CORT plasma levels, but decreased plasma BKA, shifted skin ionic profiles and the communities of skin bacteriome in *P. distincta*. Anti-Ah bacteria were more abundant and prevalent in captivity conditions, and the putatively identified anti-Bd bacteria followed the same pattern. However, it is important to conduct in vitro assays against *B. dendrobatidis* for all the anti-Ah bacteria identified in *P. distincta*. We recommend future studies evaluate the ecological and functional relationships between potentially beneficial bacteria and amphibian host, because a comprehensive omics perspective could clear these complex relationships. Finally, we suggest future studies and conservation programs considering the time and conditions of captivity in order to minimize the negative impact on the physiology of the amphibian host and its skin bacteriome, minimizing possible health consequences.

2.7 Acknowledgments

This work was supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP, 2014/16320-7), (FAPESP 590 Processes 2012/10000-5, and 2018/15425-0), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES, Finance Code 001) and Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq, 171088/2017-4). We also want to thanks Renata Vaz, Vagner Alberto and Camila Cabanzo (IB/USP) for her help during field work.

2.8 References

- Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A. H., & Pillai, S. (2007). Cellular and Molecular Immunology. In *Rio de Janeiro: Elsevier: Vol.* 7^a ed.
- Aberg, K. M., Man, M. Q., Gallo, R. L., Ganz, T., Crumrine, D., Brown, B. E., Choi, E. H., Kim, D. K., Schröder, J. M., Feingold, K. R., & Elias, P. M. (2008). Co-regulation and interdependence of the mammalian epidermal permeability and antimicrobial barriers. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 128(4), 917–925. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5701099
- Allison, S. D., & Martiny, J. B. H. (2008). Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105 Suppl(Supplement_1), 11512–11519.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0801925105

- Altschul, S. F., Gish, W., Miller, W., Myers, E. W., & Lipman, D. J. (1990). Basic local alignment search toolx. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 215, 403–410.
- Antwis, R. E., Haworth, R. L., Engelmoer, D. J. P., Ogilvy, V., Fidgett, A. L., & Preziosi, R. F. (2014). Ex situ diet influences the bacterial community associated with the skin of redeyed tree frogs (*Agalychnis callidryas*). *PLoS ONE*, 9(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085563
- Assis, V. R., Monteiro Titon, S. C., Teixeira Queiroz-Hazarbassanov, N. G., de Oliveira Massoco, C., & Ribeiro Gomes, F. (2017). Corticosterone transdermal application in toads (*Rhinella icterica*): Effects on cellular and humoral immunity and steroid plasma levels. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 327(4), 200–213. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2093
- Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Spira, B., & Gomes, F. R. (2013). Antimicrobial Capacity of Plasma from Anurans of the Atlantic Forest. *South American Journal of Herpetology*, 8(3), 155–160. https://doi.org/10.2994/sajh-d-13-00007.1
- Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., Monteirotiton, S. C., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., Gomes, F. R., De Assis, V. R., Titon, S. C. M., Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon, B., & Gomes, F. R. (2015). Effects of Acute Restraint Stress, Prolonged Captivity Stress and Transdermal Corticosterone Application on Immunocompetence and Plasma Levels of Corticosterone on the Cururu Toad (*Rhinella icterica*). *PloS One*, *10*(4), e0121005. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0121005
- Azevedo Calderon, L. De, Silva, A. D. A. E., Ciancaglini, P., & Stábeli, R. G. (2011). Antimicrobial peptides from Phyllomedusa frogs: From biomolecular diversity to potential nanotechnologic medical applications. In *Amino Acids* (Vol. 40, Issue 1, pp. 29–49). Amino Acids. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00726-010-0622-3
- B. Assis, A., R. Bevier, C., Chaves Barreto, C., & Arturo Navas, C. (2020). Environmental influences on and antimicrobial activity of the skin microbiota of Proceratophrys boiei (Amphibia, Anura) across forest fragments. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(2), 901–913. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5949
- Barsotti, A. M. G., Titon Junior, B., Titon, S. C. M., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Dehydration as a stressor in toads (*Rhinella ornata*). Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology, 331(3), 168–174. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2250
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B. M., & Walker, S. C. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Bates, K. A., Shelton, J. M. G., Mercier, V. L., Hopkins, K. P., Harrison, X. A., Petrovan, S. O., Fisher, M. C., Latorre, A., Yildirim, S., Cabrera-Rubio, R., Bates, K. A., G Shelton, J. M., Mercier, V. L., Hopkins, K. P., Harrison, X. A., Petrovan, S. O., & Fisher, M. C. (2019). Captivity and Infection by the Fungal Pathogen *Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans* Perturb the Amphibian Skin Microbiome. *Frontiers in Microbiology* | *Www.Frontiersin.Org*, *1*, 1834. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01834
- Batista, C. V. ., Scaloni, A., Rigden, D. J., Silva, L. R., Rodrigues Romero, A., Dukor, R., Sebben, A., Talamo, F., & Bloch, C. (2001). A novel heterodimeric antimicrobial peptide from the tree-frog *Phyllomedusa distincta*. *FEBS Letters*, 494(1–2), 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02324-9
- Batista, C. V. F. F., Rosendo, L., Sebben, A., Scaloni, A., Ferrara, L., Paiva, G. R., Rosendo Da Silva, L., Sebben, A., Scaloni, A., Ferrara, L., Paiva, G. R., Olamendi-Portugal, T., Possani, L. D., Bloch, C., Rosendo, L., Sebben, A., Scaloni, A., Ferrara, L., & Paiva, G. R. (2001). Antimicrobial peptides from the Brazilian frog *Phyllomedusa distincta*. *Peptides*, 20(1999), 679–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-9781(99)00050-9
- Bauermeister, A., Lopes, N. P., Brunetti, A. E., Pavarini, D. P., Carnevale Neto, F., Vera, M. C., & Taboada, C. (2017). An integrative omics perspective for the analysis of chemical signals in ecological interactions. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 47(5), 1574–1591. https://doi.org/10.1039/c7cs00368d
- Becker, M. H., Richards-Zawacki, C. L., Gratwicke, B., & Belden, L. K. (2014). The effect of

captivity on the cutaneous bacterial community of the critically endangered Panamanian golden frog (*Atelopus zeteki*). *Biological Conservation*, *176*, 199–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.05.029

- Becker, M. H., Walke, J. B., Cikanek, S., Savage, A. E., Mattheus, N., Santiago, C. N., Minbiole, K. P. C. C., Harris, R. N., Belden, L. K., & Gratwicke, B. (2015). Composition of symbiotic bacteria predicts survival in Panamanian golden frogs infected with a lethal fungus. *Proceedings. Biological Sciences / The Royal Society*, 282(1805), 20142881-. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2881
- Becking, J. H. (2006). The Genus Beijerinckia. In *The Prokaryotes* (pp. 151–162). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-30745-1_8
- Belden, L. K., & Harris, R. N. (2007). Infectious the diseases in wildlife: ecology context community. *Frontiers Ecol Environ*, 5(10), 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1890/060122
- Bellavance, M.-A., & Rivest, S. (2014). The HPA Immune Axis and the Immunomodulatory Actions of Glucocorticoids in the Brain. *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00136
- Berendsen, R. L., Pieterse, C. M. J., & Bakker, P. A. H. M. (2012). The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. In *Trends in Plant Science* (Vol. 17, Issue 8, pp. 478–486). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2012.04.001
- Bertoluci, J., & Rodrigues, M. T. (2002). Utilização de habitats reprodutivos e micro-habitats de vocalização em uma taxocenose de anuros (Amphibia) da mata atlântica do sudeste do brasil. *Papeis Avulsos de Zoologia*, 42(11), 287–297.
- Bertoluci, J., & Trefaut, M. (1991). Partição de recursos associada a atividade reprodutiva em uma comunidade de anuros (Amphibia) de mata atlântica. Universidade de São Paulo.
- Blaustein, A., Urbina, J., Snyder, P., Reynolds, E., Dang, T., Hoverman, J., Han, B., Olson, D., Searle, C., & Hambalek, N. (2018). Effects of Emerging Infectious Diseases on Amphibians: A Review of Experimental Studies. *Diversity*, 10(3), 81. https://doi.org/10.3390/d10030081
- Bletz, M. C., Loudon, A. H., Becker, M. H., Bell, S. C., Woodhams, D. C., Minbiole, K. P. C., & Harris, R. N. (2013). Mitigating amphibian chytridiomycosis with bioaugmentation: characteristics of effective probiotics and strategies for their selection and use. *Ecology Letters*, 16(6), 807–820. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12099
- Bokulich, N. A., Kaehler, B. D., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., Huttley, G. A., & Gregory Caporaso, J. (2018). Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J. E., Bittinger, K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C. J., Brown, C. T., Callahan, B. J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A. M., Chase, J., ... Caporaso, J. G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. In *Nature Biotechnology* (Vol. 37, Issue 8, pp. 852–857). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9
- Boutin, S., Bernatchez, L., Audet, C., & Derôme, N. (2013). Network Analysis Highlights Complex Interactions between Pathogen, Host and Commensal Microbiota. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e84772. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084772
- Boyle, D. G., Boyle, D. B., Olsen, V., Morgan, J. A. T., & Hyatt, A. D. (2004). Rapid quantitative detection of chytridiomycosis (*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*) in amphibian samples using real-time Taqman PCR assay. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 60(2), 141– 148. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao060141
- Brito de Assis, A., Dos Santos, C., Dutra, F. P., de Oliveira Motta, A., Costa, F. S., Navas, C. A., Magalhães, B. S., & Barreto, C. C. (2016). Assessing Antibacterial Potential of Components of *Phyllomedusa distincta* Skin and its Associated Dermal Microbiota. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-016-0665-3
- Bruce, T., Martinez, I. B., Neto, O. M., Vicente, A. C. P., Kruger, R. H., & Thompson, F. L. (2010). Bacterial community diversity in the brazilian atlantic forest soils. *Microbial Ecology*, 60(4), 840–849. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-010-9750-2

- Brunetti, A. E., Marani, M. M., Soldi, R. A., Mendonça, J. N., Faivovich, J., Cabrera, G. M., & Lopes, N. P. (2018). Cleavage of Peptides from Amphibian Skin Revealed by Combining Analysis of Gland Secretion and in Situ MALDI Imaging Mass Spectrometry. ACS Omega, 3(5), 5426–5434. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.7b02029
- Burkart, D., Flechas, S. V., Vredenburg, V. T., & Catenazzi, A. (2017). Cutaneous bacteria, but not peptides, are associated with chytridiomycosis resistance in Peruvian marsupial frogs. *Animal Conservation*, 20(6), 483–491. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12352
- Castanho, L. M. (1994). *Historia natural de Phyllomedusa distincta na Mata Atlântica de Sete Barras, Estado de São Paulo (Amphibia, Anura, Hylidae)*. Universidade Estadual de Campinas.
- Cikanek, S. J., Nockold, S., Brown, J. L., Carpenter, J. W., Estrada, A., Guerrel, J., Hope, K., Ibáñez, R., Putman, S. B., & Gratwicke, B. (2014). Evaluating group housing strategies for the ex-situ conservation of harlequin frogs (*Atelopus* spp.) using behavioral and physiological indicators. *PloS One*, 9(2), e90218. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090218
- Cogen, A. L., Nizet, V., & Gallo, R. L. (2008). Skin microbiota: A source of disease or defence? *British Journal of Dermatology*, 158(3), 442–455. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08437.x
- Colombo, B. M., Scalvenzi, T., Benlamara, S., & Pollet, N. (2015). Microbiota and Mucosal Immunity in Amphibians. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 6(March), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00111
- Conlon, J. M. (2011). The contribution of skin antimicrobial peptides to the system of innate immunity in anurans. In *Cell and Tissue Research* (Vol. 343, Issue 1, pp. 201–212). Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-010-1014-4
- Costello, E. K., Lauber, C. L., Hamady, M., Fierer, N., Gordon, J. I., & Knight, R. (2009). Bacterial community variation in human body habitats across space and time. *Science*, 326(5960), 1694–1697. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1177486
- Daszak, P., Cunningham, A. A., & Hyatt, A. D. (2000). Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife - threats to biodiversity and human health. *Science*, 287, 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5452.443
- Demas, G. E., Zysling, D. A., Beechler, B. R., Muehlenbein, M. P., & French, S. S. (2011). Beyond phytohaemagglutinin: Assessing vertebrate immune function across ecological contexts. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 80(4), 710–730. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01813.x
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2009). Enhancing versus Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function: Implications for Immunoprotection and Immunopathology Enhancing vs. Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, 16(5), 300–317. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216188
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2014). Effects of stress on immune function: The good, the bad, and the beautiful. *Immunologic Research*, 58(2–3), 193–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12026-014-8517-0
- Dhabhar, F. S., & Mcewen, B. S. (1999). Enhancing versus suppressive effects of stress hormones on skin immune function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(3), 1059–1064. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.3.1059
- Erspamer, V., Melchiorri, P., Falconieri Erspamer, G., Montecucchi, P. C., & de Castiglione, R. (1985). *Phyllomedusa* skin: A huge factory and store-house of a variety of active peptides. *Peptides*, 6(SUPPL. 3), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0196-9781(85)90343-2
- Falso, P. G., Noble, C. A., Diaz, J. M., & Hayes, T. B. (2015). The effect of long-term corticosterone treatment on blood cell differentials and function in laboratory and wildcaught amphibian models. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 212, 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.003
- Finlay, B. J., Maberly, S. C., & Cooper, J. I. (1997). Microbial Diversity and Ecosystem Function. Oikos, 80(2), 209. https://doi.org/10.2307/3546587
- Fischer, C. P., & Romero, L. M. (2019). Chronic captivity stress in wild animals is highly species-specific. In *Conservation Physiology* (Vol. 7, Issue 1). Oxford University Press.

https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coz093

- Flechas, S. V., Acosta-González, A., Escobar, L. A., Kueneman, J. G., Sánchez-Quitian, Z. A., Parra-Giraldo, C. M., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Reinert, L. K., Vredenburg, V. T., Amézquita, A., & Woodhams, D. C. (2019). Microbiota and skin defense peptides may facilitate coexistence of two sympatric Andean frog species with a lethal pathogen. *ISME Journal*, *13*(2), 361–373. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0284-9
- Flechas, S. V., Sarmiento, C., Cárdenas, M. E., Medina, E. M., Restrepo, S., & Amézquita, A. (2012). Surviving Chytridiomycosis: Differential Anti-*Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* Activity in Bacterial Isolates from Three Lowland Species of Atelopus. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), e44832. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044832
- Forsythe, P., & Bienenstock, J. (2010). Immunomodulation by commensal and probiotic bacteria. In *Immunological Investigations* (Vol. 39, Issues 4–5, pp. 429–448). https://doi.org/10.3109/08820131003667978
- Foster, Z. S. L., Sharpton, T. J., & Grünwald, N. J. (2017). Metacoder: An R package for visualization and manipulation of community taxonomic diversity data. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 13(2), e1005404. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005404
- Fukuyama, J., McMurdie, P. J., Dethlefsen, L., Relman, D. A., & Holmes, S. (2012). Comparisons of distance methods for combining covariates and abundances in Microbiome studies. *Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing*, 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1142/9789814366496_0021
- Gilbert, J. A., & Dupont, C. L. (2011). Microbial metagenomics: Beyond the genome. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, *3*(1), 347–371. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-marine-120709-142811
- Gorrochategui, E., Jaumot, J., Lacorte, S., & Tauler, R. (2016). Data analysis strategies for targeted and untargeted LC-MS metabolomic studies: Overview and workflow. In *TrAC* -*Trends in Analytical Chemistry* (Vol. 82, pp. 425–442). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2016.07.004
- Grady, E. N., MacDonald, J., Liu, L., Richman, A., & Yuan, Z. C. (2016). Current knowledge and perspectives of *Paenibacillus*: A review. *Microbial Cell Factories*, 15(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-016-0603-7
- Graham, S. P., Kelehear, C., Brown, G. P., & Shine, R. (2012). Corticosterone-immune interactions during captive stress in invading Australian cane toads (*Rhinella marina*). *Hormones and Behavior*, 62(2), 146–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.06.001
- Grant, J. B., & Land, B. (2002). Transcutaneous Amphibian Stimulator (TAS): A device for the collection of amphibian skin secretions. *Herpetological Review*, *33*(1), 38–41.
- Grogan, L. F., Robert, J., Berger, L., Skerratt, L. F., Scheele, B. C., Castley, J. G., Newell, D. A., & McCallum, H. I. (2018). Review of the amphibian immune response to chytridiomycosis, and future directions. In *Frontiers in Immunology* (Vol. 9, Issue NOV, p. 2536). Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02536
- Harris, R. N., James, T. Y., Lauer, A., Simon, M. A., & Patel, A. (2006). Amphibian Pathogen Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis Is Inhibited by the Cutaneous Bacteria of Amphibian Species. EcoHealth, 3(1), 53–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-005-0009-1
- Hernández-Gómez, O., Briggler, J. T., & Williams, R. N. (2019). Captivity-Induced Changes in the Skin Microbial Communities of Hellbenders (*Cryptobranchus alleganiensis*). *Microbial Ecology*, 77(3), 782–793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-018-1258-1
- Holden, W. M., Reinert, L. K., Hanlon, S. M., Parris, M. J., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2015). Development of antimicrobial peptide defenses of southern leopard frogs, Rana sphenocephala, against the pathogenic chytrid fungus, *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis*. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*, 48(1), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2014.09.003
- Hughey, M. C., Pena, J. A., Reyes, R., Medina, D., Belden, L. K., & Burrowes, P. A. (2017). Skin bacterial microbiome of a generalist Puerto Rican frog varies along elevation and land use gradients. *PeerJ*, 2017(8), e3688. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3688
- Hughey, M. C., Walke, J. B., Becker, M. H., Umile, T. P., Burzynski, E. A., Minbiole, K. P. C., Iannetta, A. A., Santiago, C. N., Hopkins, W. A., & Belden, L. K. (2016). Short-term

exposure to coal combustion waste has little impact on the skin microbiome of adult spring peepers (*Pseudacris crucifer*). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(12), 3493–3502. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00045-16

- Huttner, K. M., & Bevins, C. L. (1999). Antimicrobial peptides as mediators of epithelial host defense. In *Pediatric Research* (Vol. 45, Issue 6, pp. 785–794). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-199906000-00001
- Janeway, C., Travers, P., Walport, M., & Shlomchik, M. J. (2001). The complement system and innate immunity - Immunobiology - NCBI Bookshelf. In *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*. Garland Science. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK27100/
- Jani, A. J., & Briggs, C. J. (2014). The pathogen *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* disturbs the frog skin microbiome during a natural epidemic and experimental infection. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(47), E5049-58. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1412752111
- Jiménez, R. R., & Sommer, S. (2017). The amphibian microbiome: natural range of variation, pathogenic dysbiosis, and role in conservation. In *Biodiversity and Conservation*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-016-1272-x
- Katoh, K., Misawa, K., Kuma, K. I., & Miyata, T. (2002). MAFFT: A novel method for rapid multiple sequence alignment based on fast Fourier transform. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 30(14). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf436
- Kembel, S. W., Cowan, P. D., Helmus, M. R., Cornwell, W. K., Morlon, H., Ackerly, D. D., Blomberg, S. P., & Webb, C. O. (2010). Picante: R tools for integrating phylogenies and ecology. *Bioinformatics*, 26(11). https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq166
- Kilpatrick, A. M., Briggs, C. J., & Daszak, P. (2010). The ecology and impact of chytridiomycosis: an emerging disease of amphibians. In *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 25, Issue 2, pp. 109–118). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.011
- König, E., Bininda-Emonds, O. R. P., & Shaw, C. (2014). The diversity and evolution of anuran skin peptides. In *Peptides* (Vol. 63, pp. 96–117). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2014.11.003
- Kueneman, J. G., Parfrey, L. W., Woodhams, D. C., Archer, H. M., Knight, R., & McKenzie, V. J. (2014). The amphibian skin-associated microbiome across species, space and life history stages. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(6), 1238–1250. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12510
- Kumar, S., Nei, M., Dudley, J., & Tamura, K. (2008). MEGA : A biologist-centric software for evolutionary analysis of DNA and protein sequences. *Access*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbn017
- Lahti, L., & Shetty, S. (n.d.). microbiome R package.
- Lamadrid-Feris, F., Valencia, J. A., Sihler, W., Souza, M. L., Grossi-de-Sá, M. F., Franco, O. L., & Arboleda V., J. W. (2014). Biological activity of frog skin secretions from *Hypsiboas crepitans* (Anura: Hylidae). *Pharmacology Online, suplementary*, 317–318. http://pharmacologyonline.silae.it/files/archives/2014/vol2s/XXIII_SILAE_Abstracts_Boo k.pdf
- Lambertini, C., Rodriguez, D., Brito, F. B., Leite, S., & Toledo, L. F. (2013). Diagnóstico do fungo Quitrídio: Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis. *Herpetologia*, 2(1), 12–17.
- Lane, D. J. J. (1991). 16S/23S rRNA sequencing. In E. Stackebrandt & G. M. (Eds.), *Nucleic acid techniques in bacterial systematics* (pp. 115–175). John Wiley and Sons Inc.
- Lauer, A., Simon, M. A., Banning, J. L., André, E., Duncan, K., & Harris, R. N. (2007). Common cutaneous bacteria from the eastern red-backed salamander can inhibit pathogenic fungi. *Copeia*, 2007(3), 630–640. https://doi.org/10.1643/0045-8511(2007)2007[630:CCBFTE]2.0.CO;2
- Lauer, A., Simon, M. A., Banning, J. L., Lam, B. A., & Harris, R. N. (2008). Diversity of cutaneous bacteria with antifungal activity isolated from female four-toed salamanders. *ISME Journal*, 2(2), 145–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.110
- Liebl, A. L., & Martin II, L. B. (2009). Simple quantification of blood and plasma antimicrobial capacity using spectrophotometry. *Functional Ecology*, 23(6), 1091–1096. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2009.01592.x

- Lima, A. S., Ferreira, L. de F., Silva, D. P., Gomes, F. R., & Titon, S. C. M. (2020). Thermal sensitivity of Bullfrog's immune response kept at different temperatures. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology*, 333(10), 767–778. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2436
- Loudon, A. H., Woodhams, D. C., Parfrey, L. W., Archer, H., Knight, R., McKenzie, V., & Harris, R. N. (2014). Microbial community dynamics and effect of environmental microbial reservoirs on red-backed salamanders (*Plethodon cinereus*). *The ISME Journal*, 8(4), 830–840. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.200
- Madigan, M. T., Martinko, J. M., & Parker, J. (2004). Habitats microbianos, ciclos de nutrientes e interações com plantas e animais. In *Microbiologia de Brock* (10a ed.). Prentice hall.
- Madison, J. D., Berg, E. A., Abarca, J. G., Whitfield, S. M., Gorbatenko, O., Pinto, A., & Kerby, J. L. (2017). Characterization of *Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis* Inhibiting Bacteria from Amphibian Populations in Costa Rica. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(FEB), 290. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00290
- Maia, O. B., Duarte, R., Silva, A. M., Cara, D. C., & Nicoli, J. R. (2001). Evaluation of the components of a commercial probiotic in gnotobiotic mice experimentally challenged with *Salmonella enterica* subsp. enterica ser. Typhimurium. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 79(2), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1135(00)00383-7
- Mandal, S., Van Treuren, W., White, R. A., Eggesbø, M., Knight, R., & Peddada, S. D. (2015). Analysis of composition of microbiomes: a novel method for studying microbial composition. *Microbial Ecology in Health & Disease*, 26(0). https://doi.org/10.3402/mehd.v26.27663
- Mangoni, M. L., Miele, R., Renda, T. G., Barra, D., & Simmaco, M. (2001). The synthesis of antimicrobial peptides in the skin of *Rana esculenta* is stimulated by microorganisms. *The FASEB Journal*, 15(8), 1431–1432. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.00-0695fje
- Marín, I., & Arahal, D. R. (2014). The family Beijerinckiaceae. In *The Prokaryotes: Alphaproteobacteria and Betaproteobacteria* (Vol. 9783642301, pp. 115–133). Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30197-1 255
- Marler, C. A., & Ryan, M. J. (1996). Energetic constraints and steroid hormone correlates of male calling behaviour in the túngara frog. *Journal of Zoology*, 240(3), 397–409. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.1996.tb05294.x
- Matson, K. D., Tieleman, B. I., & Klasing, K. C. (2006). Capture Stress and the Bactericidal Competence of Blood and Plasma in Five Species of Tropical Birds. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 79(3), 556–564. https://doi.org/10.1086/501057
- Maxwell, S. E., & Delaney, H. D. (2013). Designing Experiments and Analyzing Data: A Model Comparison Perspective. In *Hoboken, NJ : Taylor and Francis*.
- Mayilyan, K. R., Kang, Y. H., Dodds, A. W., & Sim, R. B. (2008). The Complement System in Innate Immunity (pp. 219–236). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-73930-2 10
- McDonald, D., Price, M. N., Goodrich, J., Nawrocki, E. P., Desantis, T. Z., Probst, A., Andersen, G. L., Knight, R., & Hugenholtz, P. (2012). An improved Greengenes taxonomy with explicit ranks for ecological and evolutionary analyses of bacteria and archaea. *ISME Journal*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.139
- McEwen, B. S. (2017). Neurobiological and Systemic Effects of Chronic Stress. *Chronic Stress*, 1, 247054701769232. https://doi.org/10.1177/2470547017692328
- McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). Phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4), e61217. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- Mendonça, M. T., Chernetsky, S. D., Nester, K. E., & Gardner, G. L. (1996). Effects of gonadal sex steroids on sexual behavior in the big brown bat, *Eptesicus fuscus*, upon arousal from hibernation. *Hormones and Behavior*, 30(2), 153–161. https://doi.org/10.1006/hbeh.1996.0019
- Michaels, C. J., Gini, B. F., & Preziosi, R. F. (2014). The importance of natural history and species-specific approaches in amphibian ex-situ conservation. *Herpetological Journal*, 24(3).

- Millet, S., Bennett, J., Lee, K. A., Hau, M., & Klasing, K. C. (2007). Quantifying and comparing constitutive immunity across avian species. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 31(2), 188–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2006.05.013
- Moretti, E. H., Titon, S. C. M., Titon, B., Marques, F. S., & Gomes, F. R. (2019). Thermal sensitivity of innate immune response in three species of *Rhinella* toads. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology -Part A : Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, 237(August), 110542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2019.110542
- Muñoz-Camargo, C., Méndez, M. C., Salazar, V., Moscoso, J., Narváez, D., Torres, M. M., Florez, F. K., Groot, H., & Mitrani, E. (2016). Frog skin cultures secrete anti-yellow fever compounds. *Journal of Antibiotics*, 69(11), 783–790. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2016.16
- Murphy, K. M., Travers, P., Walport, M., Janeway, C., Mauri, C., & Ehrenstein, M. (2010). *Inmunobiologia de Janeway* (7a ed.). ARTMED Editora S.A. http://www.fkb.br/biblioteca/Arquivos/Ciencias/Imunobiologia de Janeway (Livro Completo) (1).pdf
- Nacif-Marçal, L., Pereira, G. R., Abranches, M. V, Costa, N. C. S., Cardoso, S. A., Honda, E. R., de Paula, S. O., Feio, R. N., & Oliveira, L. L. (2015). Identification and characterization of an antimicrobial peptide of *Hypsiboas semilineatus* (Spix, 1824) (Amphibia, Hylidae). *Toxicon : Official Journal of the International Society on Toxinology*, *99*, 16–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxicon.2015.03.006
- Narayan, E. J., Cockrem, J. F., & Hero, J. (2013). Repeatability of baseline corticosterone and short-term corticosterone stress responses, and their correlation with testosterone and body condition in a terrestrial breeding anuran (*Platymantis vitiana*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part A*, 165(2), 304–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.03.033
- Narayan, E. J., Hero, J.-M., Cockrem, J. F., & Hero, J.-M. (2011). Urinary corticosterone metabolite responses to capture and captivity in the cane toad (*Rhinella marina*). Austral J Zool, 59(2), 371–377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.06.015
- Nicolas, P., Vanhoye, D., & Amiche, M. (2003). Molecular strategies in biological evolution of antimicrobial peptides. *Peptides*, 24(11), 1669–1680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2003.08.017
- Oksanen, J., F. Guillaume Blanchet, R. K., Legendre, P., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., & M. Henry H. Stevens, H. W. (2019). Package "vegan". Community Ecology Package version 2.5-6. *R Package Version 3.4.0*.
- Padgett, D. A., & Glaser, R. (2003). How stress influences the immune response. *Trends in Immunology*, 24(8), 444–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(03)00173-X
- Pandya, S., Ravi, K., Srinivas, V., Jadhav, S., Khan, A., Arun, A., Riley, L. W., & Madhivanan, P. (2017). Comparison of culture-dependent and culture-independent molecular methods for characterization of vaginal microflora. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 66(2), 149– 153. https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.000407
- Pask, J. D., Woodhams, D. C., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2012). The ebb and flow of antimicrobial skin peptides defends northern leopard frogs (*Rana pipiens*) against chytridiomycosis. *Global Change Biology*, 18(4), 1231–1238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02622.x
- Pavoine, S., Dufour, A. B., & Chessel, D. (2004). From dissimilarities among species to dissimilarities among communities: A double principal coordinate analysis. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 228(4), 523–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2004.02.014
- Peig, J., & Green, A. J. (2010). The paradigm of body condition: A critical reappraisal of current methods based on mass and length. *Functional Ecology*, 24(6), 1323–1332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01751.x
- Pessier, A. P. (2002). An overview of amphibian skin disease. *Seminars in Avian and Exotic Pet Medicine*, 11(3), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.1053/saep.2002.123980
- Philippot, L., Raaijmakers, J. M., Lemanceau, P., & Putten, W. H. Van Der. (2013). Going back to the roots : the microbial ecology of the rhizosphere. *Nature Publishing Group*, 11(11), 789–799. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3109
- Price, M. N., Dehal, P. S., & Arkin, A. P. (2010). FastTree 2 Approximately maximum-

likelihood trees for large alignments. *PLoS ONE*, 5(3). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009490

- Purdom, E. (2011). Analysis of a data matrix and a graph: Metagenomic data and the phylogenetic tree. *Annals of Applied Statistics*, 5(4), 2326–2358. https://doi.org/10.1214/10-AOAS402
- Rachowicz, L. J., Hero, J. M., Alford, R. A., Taylor, J. W., Morgan, J. A. T., Vredenburg, V. T., Collins, J. P., & Briggs, C. J. (2005). The novel and endemic pathogen hypotheses: Competing explanations for the origin of emerging infectious diseases of wildlife. In *Conservation Biology* (Vol. 19, Issue 5, pp. 1441–1448). Wiley/Blackwell (10.1111). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00255.x
- Radek, K. A., Elias, P. M., Taupenot, L., Mahata, S. K., O'Connor, D. T., Gallo, R. L., Daniel, T., Connor, O., & Gallo, R. L. (2010). Neuroendocrine nicotinic receptor activation increases susceptibility to bacterial infections by suppressing antimicrobial peptide production. *Cell Host and Microbe*, 7(4), 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.009.Neuroendocrine
- Rebollar, E. A., Antwis, R. E., Becker, M. H., Belden, L. K., Bletz, M. C., Brucker, R. M., Harrison, X. A., Hughey, M. C., Kueneman, J. G., Loudon, A. H., McKenzie, V., Medina, D., Minbiole, K. P. C., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Walke, J. B., Weiss, S., Woodhams, D. C., & Harris, R. N. (2016). Using "omics" and integrated multi-omics approaches to guide probiotic selection to mitigate chytridiomycosis and other emerging infectious diseases. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(FEB), 68. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00068
- Riera Romo, M., Pérez-Martínez, D., & Castillo Ferrer, C. (2016). Innate immunity in vertebrates: An overview. *Immunology*, 148(2), 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12597
- Roberto, J., Leite, S. A., Brand, G. D., Silva, L. P., Kückelhaus, S. A. S., Bento, W. R. C., Araújo, A. L. T., Martins, G. R., Lazzari, A. M. A. M., Bloch, C., Leite, J. R. S. A., Brand, G. D., Silva, L. P., K??ckelhaus, S. A. S., Bento, W. R. C., Ara??jo, A. L. T., Martins, G. R., Lazzari, A. M. A. M., & Bloch, C. (2008). Dermaseptins from *Phyllomedusa oreades* and *Phyllomedusa distincta*: Secondary structure, antimicrobial activity, and mammalian cell toxicity. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - A Molecular and Integrative Physiology*, *151*(3), 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2007.03.016
- Rodriguez, K. M., & Voyles, J. (2020). The amphibian complement system and chytridiomycosis. In *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological and Integrative Physiology* (Vol. 333, Issue 10, pp. 706–719). John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2419
- Rognes, T., Flouri, T., Nichols, B., Quince, C., & Mahé, F. (2016). VSEARCH: A versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ*, 2016(10). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.2584
- Romero, L M, & Wikelski, M. (2001). Corticosterone levels predict survival probabilities of Galapagos marine iguanas during El Nino events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(13), 7366–7370. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.131091498
- Romero, L Michael, & Reed, J. M. (2005). Collecting baseline corticosterone samples in the field: is under 3 min good enough? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. Part A*, *Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 140(1), 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2004.11.004
- Romero, L Michael, & Wikelski, M. (2010). Stress physiology as a predictor of survival in Galapagos marine iguanas. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 277(1697), 3157–3162. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.0678
- Rosenthal, M., Goldberg, D., Aiello, A., Larson, E., & Foxman, B. (2011). Skin microbiota: Microbial community structure and its potential association with health and disease. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 11(5), 839–848. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21463709
- Roth, T., Foley, J., Worth, J., Piovia-Scott, J., Pope, K., & Lawler, S. (2013). Bacterial flora on Cascades frogs in the Klamath mountains of California. *Comparative Immunology*, *Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, 36(6), 591–598.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2013.07.002

- Sabino-Pinto, J., Bletz, M. C., Islam, M. M., Shimizu, N., Bhuju, S., Geffers, R., Jarek, M., Kurabayashi, A., & Vences, M. (2016). Composition of the Cutaneous Bacterial Community in Japanese Amphibians: Effects of Captivity, Host Species, and Body Region. *Microbial Ecology*, 72(2), 460–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-016-0797-6
- Scanlan, P. D., & Marchesi, J. R. (2008). Micro-eukaryotic diversity of the human distal gut microbiota: Qualitative assessment using culture-dependent and -independent analysis of faeces. *ISME Journal*, 2(12), 1183–1193. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2008.76
- Shade, A., Peter, H., Allison, S. D., Baho, D. L., Berga, M., Bürgmann, H., Huber, D. H., Langenheder, S., Lennon, J. T., Martiny, J. B. H., Matulich, K. L., Schmidt, T. M., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Fundamentals of microbial community resistance and resilience. In *Frontiers in Microbiology* (Vol. 3, Issue DEC, p. 417). Frontiers Research Foundation. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00417
- Simmaco, M., Boman, A., Mangoni, M. L., Mignogna, G., Miele, R., Barra, D., & Boman, H. G. (1997). Effect of glucocorticoids on the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides in amphibian skin. *FEBS Letters*, 416(3), 273–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(97)01216-7
- Simmaco, M., Mangoni, M. L., Boman, A., Barra, D., Boman, H. G., Simmaco, Mangoni, M. L., Boman, Barra, & Boman. (1998). Experimental Infections of Rana esculenta with Aeromonas hydrophila: A Molecular Mechanism for the Control of the Normal Flora. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 48(4), 357–363. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3083.1998.00407.x
- Smith, H. K., Pasmans, F., Dhaenens, M., Deforce, D., Bonte, D., Verheyen, K., Lens, L., & Martel, A. (2018). Skin mucosome activity as an indicator of *Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans* susceptibility in salamanders. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(7), e0199295. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0199295
- Someya, N., & Akutsu, K. (2009). Indigenous bacteria may interfere with the biocontrol of plant diseases. *Naturwissenschaften*, 96(6), 743–747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-009-0524-y
- Su, C., Lei, L., Duan, Y., Zhang, K. Q., & Yang, J. (2012). Culture-independent methods for studying environmental microorganisms: Methods, application, and perspective. In *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* (Vol. 93, Issue 3, pp. 993–1003). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3800-7
- Tatiersky, L., Rollins-Smith, L. A., Lu, R., Jardine, C., Barker, I. K., Clark, M. E., & Caswell, J. L. (2015). Effect of glucocorticoids on expression of cutaneous antimicrobial peptides in northern leopard frogs (*Lithobates pipiens*). *BMC Veterinary Research*, 11(1), 191. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-015-0506-6
- Thaiss, C. A., Levy, M., Suez, J., & Elinav, E. (2014). The interplay between the innate immune system and the microbiota. In *Current Opinion in Immunology* (Vol. 26, Issue 1, pp. 41– 48). Curr Opin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2013.10.016
- Thaiss, C. A., Zmora, N., Levy, M., & Elinav, E. (2016). The microbiome and innate immunity. In *Nature* (Vol. 535, Issue 7610, pp. 65–74). Nature Research. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18847
- Titon, S. C. M., Assis, V. R., Titon Junior, B., Cassettari, B. de O., Fernandes, P. A. C. M., & Gomes, F. R. (2017). Captivity effects on immune response and steroid plasma levels of a Brazilian toad (*Rhinella schneideri*). *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part A: Ecological* and Integrative Physiology, 327(2–3), 127–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.2078
- Titon, S. C. M., Titon, B., Barsotti, A. M. G., Gomes, F. R., & Assis, V. R. (2019). Time-related immunomodulation by stressors and corticosterone transdermal application in toads. *PLOS* ONE, 14(9), e0222856. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0222856
- van den Boogaart, K. G., Tolosana-Delgado, R., & Bren, M. (2020). *compositions: Compositional Data Analysis*. https://cran.r-project.org/package=compositions
- Van Rooij, P., Martel, A., Haesebrouck, F., & Pasmans, F. (2015). Amphibian chytridiomycosis: A review with focus on fungus-host interactions. In *Veterinary Research*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-015-0266-0

- Vincenti, F., Montesano, C., Di Ottavio, F., Gregori, A., Compagnone, D., Sergi, M., & Dorrestein, P. (2020). Molecular Networking: A Useful Tool for the Identification of New Psychoactive Substances in Seizures by LC–HRMS. *Frontiers in Chemistry*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fchem.2020.572952
- Wack, C. L., Lovern, M. B., & Woodley, S. K. (2010). Transdermal delivery of corticosterone in terrestrial amphibians. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 169(3), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.09.004
- Walke, J. B., Becker, M. H., Hughey, M. C., Swartwout, M. C., Jensen, R. V., & Belden, L. K. (2017). Dominance-function relationships in the amphibian skin microbiome. *Environmental Microbiology*, 19(8), 3387–3397. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13850
- Wang, G. (2020). Bioinformatic analysis of 1000 amphibian antimicrobial peptides uncovers multiple length-dependent correlations for peptide design and prediction. *Antibiotics*, 9(8), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9080491
- Wang, Z., & Wang, G. (2004). APD: The antimicrobial peptide database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 32(DATABASE ISS.). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkh025
- Webster, J. I., Tonelli, L., & Sternberg, E. M. (2002). Neuroendocrine Regulation of Immunity. Annual Review of Immunology, 20(1), 125–163. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.082401.104914
- Weeks, D. M., Parris, M. J., & Brown, S. P. (2020). Recovery and resiliency of skin microbial communities on the southern leopard frog (Lithobates sphenocephalus) following two biotic disturbances. *Animal Microbiome*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00053-5
- Westerdahl, A., Olsson, J. C., Kjelleberg, S., & Conway, P. L. (1991). Isolation and characterization of turbot (Scophtalmus maximus)-associated bacteria with inhibitory effects against Vibrio anguillarum. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 57(8), 2223–2228. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.57.8.2223-2228.1991
- Woodhams, D. C., Alford, R. A., Antwis, R. E., Archer, H., Becker, M. H., Belden, L. K., Bell, S. C., Bletz, M., Daskin, J. H., Davis, L. R., Flechas, S. V., Lauer, A., Gonzalez, A., Harris, R. N., Holden, W. M., Hughey, M. C., Ibáñez, R., Knight, R., Kueneman, J., ... McKenzie, V. (2015). Antifungal isolates database of amphibian skin-associated bacteria and function against emerging fungal pathogens. *Ecology*, *96*(2), 595–595. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1837.1
- Woodhams, D. C., Bletz, M., Kueneman, J., & McKenzie, V. (2016). Managing Amphibian Disease with Skin Microbiota. *Trends in Microbiology*, 24(3), 161–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2015.12.010
- Woodhams, D. C., Kenyon, N., Bell, S. C., Alford, R. A., Chen, S., Billheimer, D., Shyr, Y., & Rollins-Smith, L. A. (2010). Adaptations of skin peptide defences and possible response to the amphibian chytrid fungus in populations of Australian green-eyed treefrogs, Litoria genimaculata. *Diversity and Distributions*, 16(4), 703–712. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00666.x
- Woodhams, D. C., Vredenburg, V. T., Simon, M. A., Billheimer, D., Shakhtour, B., Shyr, Y., Briggs, C. J., Rollins-Smith, L. A., & Harris, R. N. (2007). Symbiotic bacteria contribute to innate immune defenses of the threatened mountain yellow-legged frog, Rana muscosa. *Biological Conservation*, 138(3–4), 390–398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.05.004
- Xu, J. (2006). Microbial ecology in the age of genomics and metagenomics: Concepts, tools, and recent advances. In *Molecular Ecology* (Vol. 15, Issue 7, pp. 1713–1731). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2006.02882.x
- Xu, X., & Lai, R. (2015). The chemistry and biological activities of peptides from amphibian skin secretions. In *Chemical Reviews* (Vol. 115, Issue 4, pp. 1760–1846). American Chemical Society. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr4006704
- Zippel, K., Johnson, K., Gagliardo, R., Gibson, R., McFadden, M., Browne, R., Martinez, C., & Townsend, E. (2011). The amphibian Ark: A global community for ex situ conservation of amphibians. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 6(3), 340–352. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260427036

2.9 Supplementary Material

Individual	Time of sampling	Result	Zoospore load	Bd Strain
29	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
28	Field	Positive	2,0	CLFT 159
27	Field	Positive	30,6	CLFT 159
26	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
35	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
25	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
34	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
24	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
32	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
23	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
31	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
22	Field	Positive	464,2	CLFT 159
33	Field	Negative	0	CLFT 159
33	0	Positive	3,9	CLFT 159
32	0	Negative	0	CLFT 159
37	0	Negative	0	CLFT 159
25	0	Negative	0	CLFT 159
34	0	Negative	0	CLFT 159
37	7	Negative	0	CLFT 159
33	7	Negative	0	CLFT 159
34	7	Negative	0	CLFT 159
25	7	Negative	0	CLFT 159
32	7	Positive	2,9	CLFT 159
34	14	Positive	2,2	CLFT 159
33	14	Negative	0	CLFT 159
32	14	Negative	0	CLFT 159
25	14	Negative	0	CLFT 159
37	14	Negative	0	CLFT 159
32	21	Negative	0	CLFT 159
25	21	Negative	0	CLFT 159
37	21	Negative	0	CLFT 159
33	21	Negative	0	CLFT 159
34	21	Negative	0	CLFT 159

Table S1. Identification of Batrachochytrium dendrobatidispresence andquantification of zoospores load in Phyllomedusa distincta individuals.

Figure S2.1: Mass spectrometry signals from skin secretions of *Phyllomedusa* distincta in field and captivity conditions. Each rectangle corresponds to a representative MALDI-TOF MS spectrum from skin secretion of samples in field (23 CA), day 0 (33 D0), day 7(33D7), day 14 (33D14) and day 21in captivity conditions (33D21) of skin ions (m/z). the Y axis show the intensity of each signal (peak) and X-axis correspond to the time of retention (m/z).



GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

Corticosterone silastic implants produced sustained increased corticosterone plasma levels of *Rhinella ornata*, inducing mid-term immunoenhancing and long-term immunosuppressive effects on the ability of plasma to kill *Aeromonas hydrophila*, an anuran opportunistic pathogen. In this way, corticosterone silastic implants provide a useful experimental tool to study and unravel the underlying immunomodulation mechanisms of this hormone in anurans.

Even without changing corticosterone plasma levels, the maintenance of *Phyllomedusa distincta* in captivity shifted innate immune function. Captivity maintenance decreased the plasma ability to kill the opportunistic bacteria *A. hydrophila*, increased ionic signals on skin secretions, and increased the abundance and prevalence of Anti-Ah and Anti-Bd bacteria. Then, experimental researches and conservation programs with anurans must consider time and condition of captivity maintenance because the consequences observed in the innate immune function and skin bacteriome can determine the success of future reintroduction programs.

Considering the sharp decline that amphibian populations have been suffering, mainly due to interacting effects of climate change, emerging infectious diseases and habitat loss, it is important to assess the effects of these stressors on amphibian innate immune response and microbiota for the planning and design of conservation strategies. Future studies, involving exposure to stressors for a longer period, and their immunological consequences, would be interesting to continue understanding these relationships.

ANEXO 1 – CERTIFICADO DE APROVAÇÃO DO COMITÊ DE ÉTICA NO USO DE ANIMAIS (CEUA IB/USP)

Universidade de São Paulo Instituto www.ib.usp.br le Biociências CERTIFICADO Certificamos que a proposta intitulada (*)"Efeito da corticosterona sobre a atividade imune inata anti-Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis em Phyllomedusa distincta", registrada com o nº 259/2016 (Proc. 16.1.319.41.1), sob a responsabilidade do Prof. Dr. Fernando Ribeiro Gomes e com a participação da colaboradora Farides del Carmen Lamadrid Feris (IB/USP), que envolve a utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto humanos), para fins de pesquisa científica encontra-se de acordo com os preceitos da Lei nº 11.794, de 08 de outubro de 2008, do Decreto nº 6.899, de 15 de julho de 2009 e com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle da Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi aprovada pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais - CEUA do Instituto de Biociências da Universidade de São Paulo, em reunião de 06 de julho de 2016. Proposta inicial: Vigência da autorização: 06/07/2016 a 05/07/2019 Finalidade: Pesquisa Científica Nº da solicitação ou autorização SISBIO: 29896-1 Atividades: Captura e Coleta de espécimes Espécie/Grupo Taxonômico: Anfíbio/Phyllomedusa distincta Local de realização das atividades: Parque Estadual Intervales, Ribeirão Grande - SP 1º Adendo: A Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais - CEUA do Instituto de Biociências da Universidade de São Paulo, em reunião de 26/02/2018 aprovou alteração do título do projeto para (*)"Atividade imune inata anti-Batrachochytrium dendrobatidis em anuros da Mata Atlântica", inclusão de local de coleta e inclusão de 40 animais da espécie relacionada abaixo: Espécies/Grupos Taxonômicos: Anfíbio/Rhinella ornata Peso: não informado Idade: adulto Total: 40 animais Nº de animais: 40 (M) Local de realização das atividades: Jardim Botânico de São Paulo, São Paulo - SP OBS.: Qualquer intercorrência ou alteração do projeto em andamento deverá ser previamente autorizada pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais - CEUA-IB. Prof. Dr. Pedro Augusto Carlos Magno Fernandes Coordenador da Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais

Curairai

internation i